A Work Project, presented as part of the requirements for the Award of a Master Degree in Economics / Finance / Management from the NOVA – School of Business and Economics.

> Equity Research Report Southern Company: An Industry Trend Analysis

> > Ana Benjamim 39498

A Project carried out on the Master in Finance Program, under the supervision of:

Gonçalo Rocha

December 16th, 2022



Abstract

Equity Research Report – Southern Company: An Industry Trend Analysis

The present equity research thesis aims to assess the performance of Southern, an energy utility company located in the U.S.A. with a market capitalization of over \$75B employing two different methodologies, Discounted Cash Flows and Multiple Analysis. Since the year 2010 the energy sector has changed drastically. From new targets by the Treaty of Paris, to energy enterprises closing coal-fired plants, the industry has been changing towards a greener and cleaner future. Hence, the supplemental purpose of this study aims to investigate how sector trends are shaping cash flows and industry's capital structure.

Keywords: Energy Sector, LCOE, Renewables, Paris Agreement

This work used infrastructure and resources funded by Fundação para a Ciência e a Tecnologia (UID/ECO/00124/2013, UID/ECO/00124/2019 and Social Sciences DataLab, Project 22209), POR Lisboa (LISBOA-01-0145-FEDER-007722 and Social Sciences DataLab, Project 22209) and POR Norte (Social Sciences DataLab, Project 22209).



This report is part of the Equity Research Report - Southern Company (annexed), developed by Ana Benjamim and Henrique Zhao and should be read has an integral part of it.

NOVA SCHOOL OF BUSINESS & ECONOMICS

Table of Contents

	INTRODUCTION	5
	MACROECONOMIC CONTEXT	6
	SOUTHERN COMPANY	6
	ENERGY EVOLUTION	7
EVOLUTION OF N	NATURAL GAS IN THE U.S.	7
	LEVELIZED COST OF ENERGY	9
	THE SOUTHERN COMPANY COMMITMENT	. 10
	NUCLEAR ENERGY INVESTMENT	. 11
	RELEVANT COMPETITON ANALYSIS	. 12
NEXTERA		. 12
AMERICAN ELEC	CTRIC POWER	. 13
DOMINION		. 14
FIRSTENERGY		. 15
	PEERS COMPARISON AND TRENDS	. 16
	MULTIPLE VALUATION	. 18
	RECOMMENDATION	. 19
	REFERENCES	. 20

NOVA SCHOOL OF BUSINESS & ECONOMICS

Introduction

The purpose of this joint report is to evaluate the performance Southern, an energy utility company based in the United States of America, state if the enterprise is worth investing, and the reasons behind that choice.

Nowadays there's change all around us and technology has evolved more in the past 50 years than it has ever evolved in the history of mankind. The usage and advancement of technology allows energy companies to shift from previous main polluter's, fossil fuels, with focus in coal, to clean and reliable energy.

Yet, this shift in the industry was triggered not only by the decreasing costs of levelized cost of energy for the renewables, but also due to the Paris Agreement. The goal of the latter is reduced emissions, as otherwise the global temperatures will likely increase, shattering the prospects of future Human generations, and ending with a variety of species of animals. Therefore, the goal of this individual report is to explore shifts in the employment of the various fuels of energy. In addition, this research aims to discover proxy industry trends amongst ten other energy utility companies. For this purpose, the ten businesses were scrutinized, and their investment strategy was considered. In terms of financials, this individual report solely has a Multiples analysis, yielding a return of 16% for a period of one year. Nevertheless, since Multiples are a supplementary analysis to the method of Discounted Cash Flows, the advice to invest is overruled by the advice to "Hold," by the DCF.

On the other individual paper lies the financial analysis, including the DCF, not only for a period of one year, but 10 years, with a final recommendation to "Hold".



Macroeconomic Context

From the covid-19 pandemic to the most recent Russo-Ukrainian conflict, the macroeconomic scenario around the world has been concerning.

It all started in 2020, a few months after the discovery of a virus that would propagate the world and lead markets to a downfall. The S&P ETF would decline from \$3380 to \$2300 in 5 weeks-time (Index S&P 500, 2020)¹. And dragged along with it most stocks, including the Southern Company's that had a value of \$70.40 in February of 2020 deteriorating to \$46.36 only a month later (Index Southern Company, 2022)².

Due to the state of the economy both the ECB and the FED decided to help citizens with helicopter money along with other compensations, that would later increase inflation (The White House, 2021)³.

In 2021 the market was recovering only to be struck again, in 2022, as a result of global economic uncertainties due to the conflict in Eastern Europe, between Russia and Ukraine. The war has increased the price of natural gas futures to more than double compared to January 2022, and 7 times, compared to March 2020 (Natural gas futures price, 2022)⁴. Additionally, with the increase in price of petrol, inflation skyrocketed to a whopping 10.00% in august 2022 in the European Union and 8.26% in the United States in the same period. Leading to a depreciation of the euro compared to the U.S. dollar to 1.05 euros per dollar. The price in the aforementioned raw materials had massive impact in the economy.

Finally, considering the recent macroeconomic context, Southern company has managed it particularly well as the utilities market is heavily regulated hence hedging the most concerning metrics of an Energy company, by passing the increasing costs of natural gas to customers, as electricity is an inelastic good. In addition, it also benefits from fixed debt payments and low exposure to variable interest rates. For these reasons, and despite the state of the economy, it is believed that Southern Company is a great investment, that offers a unique opportunity to hedge further against natural gas prices, and consequently electricity price expansion, along with benefits from dividends.

Southern Company

Back in the 1900s, James Mitchell, inspired by hydro-electric plant in England and the river force of Alabama, dreamt of electrifying American South. Hence, he created Alabama Power on the 4th of December 1906 (Alabama Power, 2022)⁵. The first of three electric holding companies that would later play major roles in the history of the company.

The company then proceeded to acquire and merge with other firms until it formed the Commonwealth & Southern Corporation. This system involved 5 Northern firms and 6 Southern corporations. Nevertheless, the massive company was dissolved in 1940 due to the Public Utility Holding Company Act (PUHCA) of 1935 (Chcom, 2020)⁶. The PUHCA gave the Securities and Exchange Commission power to break apart electric utility holding enterprises and limited each



Figure 1: Territory served by Southern Company

COMPANY REPORT



electric utility holding to a single state (U.S. Energy Information Administration, 1993)⁷.

Regardless of the PUHCA, 4 Southern electric holdings managed to be an integrated system and in November 1945, the Southern Company was finally incorporated in Delaware.

Through expansions, acquisitions, mergers, and customer growth, the Southern Company is now able to serve 9 million customers, both households and industrial clients across the U.S.A. and offers energy, natural gas, and other services for example fiber optic and telecommunication services (a) (Southern Company, 2022)⁸.

Energy Mix Evolution

Nowadays, the energy sector is evolving, becoming cleaner and greener, yet, Humanity has gone through multiple trials and errors to achieve a sustainable energy mix. Not long ago, in 2010, the United States' sources of energy generation were as follows by figure 2, (Statista, 2021)⁹.





Figure 2: 2010 U.S. Power Generation by fuel

Figure3: 2021 U.S. Power Generation by fuel

As observable by figure 3, in 2010, coal was the predominant type of resource used, with 45% of the U.S.'s power generation being reliable on this source. Yet, in 2021 the energy mix by the industry in the United States of America has changed drastically, as depicted in figure 3.

Evolution of Natural Gas in the US



Figure 4: Blue: Southern's main electric service areas. Green: Henry Hub

In the transition to reduce greenhouse gas emissions worldwide, Natural Gas stands as the fossil fuel that helps facilitate this transition as it has lower emissions. The Henry Hub index is the primary United States benchmark for the price of natural gas. Depending on the location, spreads are then applied taking into account distribution and transportation costs through pipelines with distance and demand affecting the spread. Furthermore, Henry Hub is situated in the Southeast of the United States (Louisiana), relatively in proximity to the regions where Southern Company's retail electric generation plants operate (Mississippi, Alabama, Georgia). In turn, this could mean that the spread is not as impactful in the analysis of natural gas prices compared to the actual spot price at Henry Hub, figure 4. Natural Gas is sold in dollars per mmBtu, as in M British Thermal Units. Historically this index has been relatively stable with a decreasing trend in the past few years and an inverting trend beginning in 2021 (US Energy Information Administration)¹⁰.

The Henry Hub index averaged at 2.04\$/mmBtu in 2020, increasing by 92.06% to 3.91\$/mmBtu in 2021, and increasing by another 71.66% to 6.71\$/mmBtu as of September 2022 as presented by the EIA (US Energy Information Administration¹¹), figure 5. These changes were the consequence of two separate situations that have influenced each other resulting in these two spikes in such a short amount of time. The first situation occurred in February 2021, when the

SOUTHERN COMPANY ANA BENJAMIM 39498





Russia = Others

Figure 6: Natural Gas importation by the EU (in %)





sources for the EU (in %)

average price of natural gas increased by approximately 900% on average in the United States with the Mid-Continent region seeing a price surge of 1,370% compared to previous year values according to S&P. This sharp monthly increase was due to an unexpected winter storm that hit Texas and Oklahoma leading to the Natural gas stored (in order to be used as supply in the future) to be promptly used to produce heating and electricity to cope with the catastrophe (Texas Electric Grid, 2021)¹². Furthermore, the American natural gas seasonal trends are reversed when compared with that of European season trends. While Europe mostly saves up natural gas during the summer as there are spikes mostly during winter times. The spikes are due to the continent's necessity of using natural gas for heating (Safe Gas, 2022)¹³. In the meantime, the United States has a spike mostly during summer times. Natural Gas prices usually peak in the winter in regions where Southern Company operates, General Electric utilities sales though peak in both summer and winter seasons. This is because the country also uses natural gas and electricity for its air conditioning needs to fight the heat (Martínez and Torró, 2015)¹⁴ leading to higher spot prices after decreases in storages in the winter. These sharp decreases in stored natural gas in the winter lead to significantly higher demand for US natural gas in the summer as a result of higher marginal cost production and demand inelasticity.

For instance, after a significant decrease in stored natural gas supply in February 2021, the rise in demand in the summer was not met with a similar growth in supply. Lower storage of natural gas correlated with higher prices afterwards (Forbes, 2022)¹⁵ during the summer period. This led to a further boost in prices of natural gas in an overall upwards trend throughout the rest of 2021. Therefore, seasonal trends in US prices at the Henry Hub "are not directly linked to the global market, even as the country sends about 15% of its gas production overseas in the form of liquified natural gas" as stated by CNBC¹⁶ with American seasonality prices of this fuel being unique.

Contrary to the United States, the European Union does not produce much of the natural gas it uses (importing more than 80% in 2020, figure 6), instead importing it through pipelines from other countries outside the EU. At the start of 2022, Europe imported around 40% of its natural gas from Russia though pipelines (From Where do we Important Energy, 2020)¹⁷, figure 7. Due to the start of the war between Russia and Ukraine and the consequent sanctions imposed on Russia by the EU, European imports of natural gas are now down to 9% as of September 2022 (European Imports of Gas Fall, 2022)¹⁸. This significant decrease in imports has led to a shortage in supply as, unlike the U.S., Europe has its demand spike for natural gas during the winter months when heating requirements increase in the colder European countries. Even though the European Commission has proposed gas demand reduction plans to prepare the union for supply cuts¹³, these demand reductions are not enough to fully account for the reduction in stored natural gas. To prevent the worst consequences of supply shortages, the EU imported as much natural as from other sources as possible in the earlier months of the year to save up for the winter period. Therefore, Europe required natural gas from countries such as the United States where natural gas must be bought through LNG (Liguified Natural Gas) to be able to be transported across the Atlantic Ocean. LNG is significantly more expensive than natural gas sold through pipelines as liquefying natural gas requires the fuel to be cooled with various cryogenic processes

NOVA SCHOOL OF BUSINESS & ECONOMICS

SOUTHERN COMPANY ANA BENJAMIM 39498

Andrew

Figure 8: Evolution of Uranium Fuel Prices 2014-2022

USINESS & ECONOMICS and transported throughout the entire journey in special cryogenic vessels (Applied Energy, 2011)¹⁹. Consequently, natural gas prices at Henry Hub also raised as LNG prices for Europe are about four times higher than LNG prices within the United States. U.S. natural gas production has also not completely recovered since the pandemic meaning that similarly to the effects of the winter storms of 2021, the rise in demand in the summer months in 2022 could not be accompanied by a similar growth in supply (as the speed of production in 2022 has not fully picked up while stored amounts decreased during the first half of the year as the US sold much of its supply to the EU) leading to yet another sharp increase in natural gas prices by 71% (Why Gas Quadrupled, 2022)²⁰. These two-yearly changes have severely impacted Southern Company's costs as fuel is one of the most crucial expenses in the company's operating structure. Furthermore, as Southern Company shifts away from generation sources such as Coal to Natural Gas due to its lower greenhouse gas emissions, it also means that Southern Company is increasingly exposed to price increases at Henry Hub. Thusly, increasing investments into the nuclear sector from Southern can also be seen as a hedge against this risk as nuclear fuel prices are generally more stable and uranium spot prices (\$/lb U₃O₈) have decreased steadily since 2008 more than halving its spot price²¹, figure 8.

COMPANY REPORT

Levelized Cost of Electricity

Nonetheless, it is crucial, and interesting to understand, what motivated the dramatic shift in energy mix by the industry in over the course of a decade, and the Levelized cost of electricity (LCOE) is used for this. Thus, LCOE is utilized to compare costs amongst the different types of energy generation. This indicator is a measure of the average net present cost of electricity for a generator over its lifetime in Megawatt-hour (a) (Corporate Finance Institute, 2022)²². In simplistic terms, the LCOE measures the lifetime costs of a plant, dividing it by its energy production over its life span.

As it is depicted below by figure 9, from the source: Solar lights up outlook for renewable energy in Texas in 2022 by the Federal Reserve Bank of Dallas²³, renewables are taking a stance next to the less environmentally conscious peers. In fact, Solar PV Crystalline became the most appealing source of energy over the course of 12 years, with an average unsubsidized levelized cost of energy of \$36 per Megawatt-hour. Solar PV Crystalline, standing for Crystalline Silicon Photovoltaics is the most used technology in regard to photovoltaic panels.

To support this theory, it was analyzed the renewables and cleaner energy investments in 2021 (Visual Capitalist, 2022)²⁴. In 2021, China had invested \$266 billion in renewables and low-carbon technologies. Whereas, the United States of America took the second spot, with \$114 billion spent in greener technologies. Notwithstanding, despite the impressive numbers, a supplementary assessment to the percentages of energy consumption that are generated by the renewable's portraits a different reality. Even though China has made an enormous investment, the total percentage of energy consumption employed, using clean technology is 14.95% as of 2021. Interestingly, the leader of renewables is Iceland with 86.87% of the primary energy coming from a clean source, followed by Norway with 70.56%, Sweden with 50.92% and Brazil with 46.22% (Our World Data, 2022)²⁵.





Figure 10: RePowerEU

Adding to the international effort of fighting global warming, in 2021, the European Union set a target regarding the energy mix inside the E.U. of at least 40% clean energy by 2030. Nonetheless, on the 18th of May 2022, the commission released the REPowerEU plan, in order to "rapidly reduce EU's dependence on Russian fossil fuels well before 2030 by accelerating the clean energy transition". Proposing that the previous directive of 40% by 2030, to be reconsidered, and setting a new target of at least 45% of renewables in the energy mix of the energy sector (European Commission, 2022)²⁶. In figure 10 it is observable the different directives by the European Commission over the years, with the last one being at 45% clean energy by 2030. The relevance of the European Commission is unquestionable since it is the forefront of international efforts to combat climate change and plans to raise its targets in order to tackle global warming under the Paris Agreement. The United States has also further its commitment to net-zero carbon emissions, not only to power-plants, but to American homes and businesses by 2035. (U.S. to slash carbon emissions, 2022)²⁷.

The Southern Company Commitment



Figure 11: Evolution of energy sources at Southern Company (Statista, 2022)

In the foreseeable future, Southern Company aims to achieve carbon-neutrality by 2050, and a reduction of 50% in Greenhouse gases by 2030, relative to 2007. The strategy for the Southern Company to further evolve into a greener company implies a reduction of both indirect and direct emissions. This is achieved by reducing coal-fired assets, increase in natural gas and nuclear energy consumption as means to lower carbon emissions. In addition, other measures include: increase in renewable assets, finding carbon negative solutions (where the amount of CO₂ that the company removes from the atmosphere is greater than the CO₂ emissions of the company) and, investment in Research and Development of cleaner technologies (Southern Company, 2022b)²⁸. The evolution of energy sources is depicted in figure 11, and the efforts in the reduction of coal are evident, as for 2010 coal represented almost 70% of the energy generated, and a decade later that value has dropped to 22% of the energy generated. (Statista SO energy by source, 2022)²⁹.



Nevertheless, the efforts to reduce carbon emissions do not belong solely to the Southern Company, but to a growing coalition of countries that are pledging net-zero by 2050. The Paris Agreement states that in order to contain global warming to no more than 1.5° Celsius compared to the late 1800s, overall, Greenhouse gas emissions of the planet need to be reduced by 45% in 2030 compared to 2010, and net-zero by 2050. For this purpose, 193 parties consented to the Paris Agreement, including the main polluters – United States, China and the European Union, covering 76% of global emissions. The Agreement also sets long-term goals, reviews countries commitments to cutting emissions every 5 years, and provides climate financing to developing countries (United Nations, 2021)³⁰.

Nuclear energy Investment

Southern Company along with its subsidiary Georgia Power and Southern Nuclear, are investing in nuclear plants, more specifically Plant Vogtle Units 3 and 4. These plants will be the first U.S. reactors to use the AP1000 technology (a) (Office of Nuclear Energy, 2022)³¹. Which are designed to be safer through a two-loop pressurized water reactor, (Westinghouse, 2022)³² and to shut the reactors without any operator action or power source. Furthermore, the design of the plants also uses less piping, valves and pumps than other reactors, leading to lower maintenance and operating costs, thus giving Southern a competitive advantage in regards to this technology once fully functioning.

Furthermore, nuclear also has other benefits other than being cleaner that the other fossil fuels such as its increasingly cheaper cost. Despite the carbon-emissions made by the extraction of uranium, the process of producing electricity with the aid of nuclear plants does not emit carbon dioxide to the atmosphere, hence contributing to the net-zero carbon emission goal of 2050.

Nuclear plants have the highest capacity factor, compared to any source, (b) (Office of Nuclear Energy, 2021)³³. Having the capacity of operating at maximum power for 92.5% of the year, whereas coal sits far behind at only 49.3%, and solar at 24.6%, as portraited by figure 12. Moreover, nuclear plants require refueling only 1 time per 2 years, consequently being less troublesome to maintain.

Despite the cost of \$10.4 billion so far (subject to future changes in project estimation), both Vogtle 3 & 4 employed 7000 workers and 800 on permanent jobs since the start of operations, therefore developing local economy. Additionally, the plants have been one of the largest infrastructure projects in the U.S.A. and could represent a hedging solution to the rise in price of natural gas due to the uncertainty in regard to the conflict between Ukraine and Russia. Once the plants complete construction, these will be able to power 1 million customers for the next 60-80 years (Georgia Power, 2022)³⁴. Additionally, the success of the plants in 2023 could potentially have a positive influence for another energy companies to start investing more in this technology, representing a leading shift in the industry.



Figure 12: Capacity Factor



Relevant Competitors Analysis





Figure 13: NextEra operational area



Figure 14: NextEra Energy Mix

To create a proxy for the energy utilities sector in the United States, 10 companies were chosen as relevant peers to Southern Company. Out of these, 5 were chosen for a more in depth analysis in the following section.

NextEra Energy (NEE) is an energy company and the greatest generator of renewable energy from the wind and sun (a) (NextEra Energy, 2022)³⁵. Furthermore, to complete its operation, it also relies on, and operates generating plants powered by natural gas, nuclear energy, and oil (b) (NextEra Energy, 2022)³⁶. This company is the most similar to the Southern Company, in terms of the types of business it conducts in. Its EBITDA is \$6,837M and the Enterprise value of the company is \$242,930M, with multiples of 35.5x (EV/EBITDA) and 50.8x (P/E). It currently operates in over 15 states in the United States, and offers electricity in Texas through Gexa Energy, an affiliate company, figure 13.

Regarding revenues, the company has made \$17,049M for the year 2021. For this period, the energy mix utilized by the company was of 70% Natural Gas, 22% of nuclear power, 6% Solar energy and 2% of other fuels with a total 28,450 MW of generating capacity, figure 14.

Interestingly, NextEra did not utilize coal to generate power, even closing its last coal-fired plant in June of 2021. In comparison, Southern has a different energy mix, consisting of 12% of renewable energy, 18% of nuclear, 48% of natural gas, but yet, 22% of coal. Additionally, NextEra Energy plans to include 1,640 MW of solar generating capacity in its portfolio by 2023 and 1,200 MW of natural gas generating units through 2022 (FirstEnergy Investor relations, 2021)³⁷.

Concerning the Cash Flow management of the company, NextEra has had a negative conversion cycle for the past 3 years of operations. The inventory of NextEra for 2021 was valued at \$1,561M, and cost of sales of \$8,508M, resulting in an average holding period of 67 days. Yielding a similar result for the average collection period of 72 days. Notwithstanding, the fact that the average payable period is over 9 months, allows the company to have a rapid Cash Conversion Cycle of negative 158 days. Meaning that the inventory is sold before it must be paid to suppliers. In contrast Southern has a Cash Conversion Cycle of 31 days.

In common, both Southern and NextEra have a similar Net Debt, yielding \$52,914M to Southern and \$53,331M to NextEra. Nonetheless, it is not normal for NextEra to hold this parameter above \$50,000M, and the reason may lie on the acquisition of Texas water and wastewater systems -"NextEra Water Texas, LLC, an indirect subsidiary of NextEra Energy Resources, LLC, announced that it has completed the previously announced acquisition of a portfolio of rateregulated water and wastewater utility assets in eight counties". Through this purchase, NextEra Water expanded its portfolio into 28 water and wastewater utility systems (NextEra water acquisition, 2022)38.

Another acquisition of no less importance was the purchase of Gulf Power, a subsidiary of Southern Company. This purchase took place in 2018, and NextEra gained access to the largest electricity producer in Northwest Florida (NextEra acquires Gulf Power, 2019)³⁹. This allowed



NextEra to capture 51% of the residential demand in Florida.

In addition, the enterprise has kept a constant net PP&E/Assets ratio, with an average of 0.71 for the last 3 years. Notwithstanding, the current ratio for NextEra yielded 0.53 for 2021, in turn it would mean that if the company liquidated all of its current assets, it would only be able to pay half of its current liabilities. In contrast, Southern had a current ratio of 0.82 for the same period.

NextEra's Debt to Equity ratio stands at 1.17 for the year of 2021, and it is predictable that it decreases as the company has issued \$2 billion in outstanding shares. "NextEra Energy, Inc. (NYSE: NEE) announced today that it intends to sell \$2.0 billion of equity units. Each equity unit will be issued in a stated amount of \$50 (NextEra to sell equity units, 2022)⁴⁰.

American Electric Power (AEP) is a public utility holding company that operates in the generation, transmission, and distribution of electricity. This company has 5 M customers and serves 11 different states across the U.S.A., including, Arkansas, Indiana, Kentucky, Louisiana, Michigan, Ohio, Oklahoma, Tennessee, Texas, Virginia, and West Virginia, figure 15 (Operating Companies, 2022)⁴¹. Regarding its multiples it has an EV/EBITDA of 12.6x and a price to earnings ratio of 17.5x. With an enterprise value of \$78,800 M and EBITDA of \$6,237 M, in 2021.

Concerning revenues the company had sales of \$16,792 M and a gross margin of 0.46, lower than the Southern Company, yielding 0.7 for the same period (2021). The energy mix of the company has a similar percentage of nuclear energy being employed at 22%. Notwithstanding, the company still heavily relies on coal, with an overall percentage for 2021 of 50%, natural gas for 16% and renewables only for 12% of the energy mix with a total generating capacity of 21,169 MWs, figure 16, (AEP Form 10-K)⁴².

In regard to Cash Flow management, the enterprise has managed to accomplish a Cash Conversion cycle of exactly 0 days. With an average payable period of 82 days, and collection period of 42 days.

When it comes to net debt, Southern has an average for a 5-year period of \$48,757M, whereas American Electric Power has an average of \$29,286M. The difference in debt amounts might be explained by the fact that Southern has a larger customer base, as well as a recent increase in nuclear energy investments. Notwithstanding, Net PP&E for American Electric Power has a value of \$66,001 M, with total assets valued at \$87,688M, yielding a Net PP&E/Total assets of 0.75 in 2021 (for Southern the value was lower at 0.64 for the same parameter).

Moreover, both PP&E and Debt are expected to increase in value due to the recent new renewables capacity purchase of 999.5 MW, whilst becoming a hedge against energy price volatility (News Releases 2022)⁴³.

Yet, despite the investment in renewables, American Electric power announced that it would be selling Kentucky Operations, including Kentucky Power, an utility subsidiary, and Kentucky Transco, a transmissions business, by the end of 2022⁴⁴.

The company's current ratio for the period of 2021 was 0.63, whereas Southern yielded a current ratio of 0.82. Still, the Solvency Ratio have similar results in both





Figure 15: American Electric Power Service Areas



Nuclear = Renewables
 Coal = Natural Gas

Figure 16: American Electric Power Energy Mix

SOUTHERN COMPANY ANA BENJAMIM 39498

COMPANY REPORT

NOVA SCHOOL OF BUSINESS & ECONOMICS



Figure 17: Dominion Energy Service Areas





companies, yielding 0.34 for the Southern Company and 0.35 for American Electric Power, respectively, for the period of 2021.

Dominion Energy



Dominion Energy (D) is an electric and power company based in Virginia and serves 7 million customers⁴⁵ (a) (Dominion Energy, 2022). This company provides natural gas, electricity and has also generation facilities across the United States. In 2021 the company generated an EBITDA of \$5,497 M with an Enterprise Value of \$10,755M, resulting in an EV/EBITDA multiple of 2.0x and a price to earnings ratio of 19.4x. The modest enterprise value multiple might be explained by the fact that in 2021, Ullico bought most of the Dominion Energy company and is expected to close the sale in 2022⁴⁶ (b) (Dominion Energy, 2022). Nevertheless, the company provides electricity in Virginia, North Carolina, and South Carolina and natural gas to Utah, Idaho and Wyoming, West Virginia, Ohio, Pennsylvania, North Carolina, South Carolina, and Georgia. In addition, the enterprise has production facilities in Indiana, Illinois, Connecticut, and Rhode sland, figure 17.

Dominion had revenues of nearly \$14,000M over the course of 2021. This result was the lowest of the 3 years (2019 to 2021). Despite this, Dominion has a generation capacity of 28,450 MW for 2021. In the meantime, the gross margin was 0.48 in 2021, which yields better results than if compared to the year of 2019, with a gross margin of 0.42.

Regarding investment goals, the company is investing in nuclear energy in order to attain the goal of net zero by 2050. Nonetheless. the business had an energy mix for 2021 containing 35% of nuclear energy, 48% natural gas, renewables 6% and only 11% of coal, with a total of 25,066 MW of generating capacity, figure 18. Additionally, Dominion has purchased a significant amount of power when compared to peers, totaling 5.134 MW of extra capacity purchased (Dominion Form 10-K, 2021)⁴⁷.

In terms of capital structure, Dominion has been expanding its net debt by 12.5% per year from 2019 to 2021 on average. Net PP&E/Assets ratio was 0.6 for 2 consecutive years (2020 and 2021). Yet, the latter will presumably shift due to the recent approval in extra capacity for this year. "The proposal includes 10 solar and energy storage projects, totaling nearly 500 MW, that will be owned and operated by Dominion Energy Virginia. The proposal also includes power purchase agreements (PPAs) with 13 solar and energy storage projects, totaling more than 300 megawatts, that are owned by independent developers" (New Solar and Energy Storages, 2022)⁴⁸. In addition, the investment is in line with the treaty of Paris and important for ESG standards. Consistent with the ESG - inclusion, Dominion also has several military programs to incorporate veterans in the company (Navy Veteran, 2022)⁴⁹.

Concerning funding, it is part of Dominion's strategy and interest to continue investing in green energies. As the company expects to invest up to \$21 billion from 2022 through 2035 in solar generation to achieve its target of 13,400 MW generating capacity in-service by the end of 2035.

Regarding other metrics, the current ratio of the company has increased from 0.64 in 2020 to 0.84 in 2021, portraying the enhanced ability to cope with their current liabilities. The financial autonomy ratio yields 0.27, hence for every dollar of assets, the company has \$0.27 of equity. In

SOUTHERN COMPANY ANA BENJAMIM 39498

COMPANY REPORT



this parameter Southern yielded 0.25.





Figure 19: Exelon Service Areas



Renewables

Figure 20: Exelon Energy Mix

Exelon Corp (EXC) is an utility based in Chicago, and the largest regulated electric parent company with 10 million customers; 1 million more than the Southern Company. Through its operations, Exelon provides electricity distribution and transmission, and natural gas sales to Northern Illinois, Southeastern Pennsylvania, Central Maryland, Delaware, Southern New Jersey, and other regions in the Mid-Atlantic, Midwest, and New York, figure 19. Exelon has six subsidiaries, located and purchases electricity and natural gas from different sources through the aid of short-term, long-term contracts and spot rate contracts, in order to deliver the physical product to its customers. The customers vary between residential, commercial, industrial, public authorities and electric railroads (Exelon Corp overview, Exelon Corp)⁵⁰. In 2021 this company had an enterprise value of \$77,960 M and an EBITDA of \$9,782 M. Regarding multiples, it had an EV/EBITDA of 8.0x and a P/E ratio of 23.1x in the same period.

As of 2021, Exelon generated 36,502 MW of power, and purchased 4,102 MW resulting in revenues of \$18,498M. The energy mix of the company aims to be the cleanest of the peers with 20,899 MW generated by nuclear, with an average of 95% capacity factor, 8,819 MW of fossil fuels (primarily using natural gas and oil), 2,682 MWs using renewable energy, figure 20 (Exelon Report, 2021)⁵¹. Compared to Southern Company, Exelon focuses a more significant portion of its mix in clean energy generation totaling 73% of the portfolio in clean energy, with 65% coming from nuclear, and 8% renewables, instead of natural gas production (27%). In addition, the company does not employ coal, potentially resulting in safer cash flows taking into account recent volatility in natural gas prices.

Considering Exelon's cash flow management, the average holding period was 28 days and payable period of 62 days, resulting in a CCC of 19 days. Thus, the enterprise is quick to convert its investments into cash inflows, as it is common within the energy industry.

Similarly to Southern Company, Exelon, has maintained a steady Net PP&E over Total Asset ratio around 0.60 since 2018. Nonetheless, the key difference is that Exelon has been decreasing its Current Ratio from 1.17 in 2018 to 0.87 in 2021, portraying a deteriorating capacity in meeting liabilities in the short run. The company has also boosted its Net Debt considerably since 2018 from \$38B to \$46B resulting in an expansion of the D/E ratio from 1.24 to 1.36 in 2021.

The increase in Net Debt is a result of the investments made in 2021 as a strategy to accomplish the goal of reducing emissions by 50% in 2030. In fact Exelon invested more than \$6.6 billion in energy infrastructure, with an additional \$29 billion planned for 2022–2025 (Exelon Releases, 2021)⁵². Notwithstanding the total amount also includes investments in natural gas, and improvement in infrastructure.

As of 2022, Fitch ratings had diminished Exelon's rating from BBB+ to BBB while affirming a short-term credit quality of F2 as Good. Yet, Exelon's subsidiaries of Pepco, ACE, and PHI had their long-term rating upgraded from BBB to BBB+ while Pepco and ACE's senior secured rating was raised from A- to A (Exelon Investors Relationships, 2022)⁵³.

SOUTHERN COMPANY ANA BENJAMIM 39498

FirstEnergy



Figure 21: FirstEnergy Service Areas



Coal Renewables

Figure 22: Exelon Energy Mix

COMPANY REPORT



First Energy (FE) is an utility company with headquarters in Ohio, serving 6 million customers across 65,000 square miles in Ohio, Pennsylvania, West Virginia, Maryland, New Jersey, and New York, figure 21 (First Energy, 2022)⁵⁴. The company, along with ten subsidiaries provides the distribution, transmission, and generation of electricity. And supplies energy to residential, commercial, and industrial customers. This company had an Enterprise Value of \$46,530M and EBITDA of \$3,297 M in 2021, along with a multiple of 14.1x regarding EV/EBITDA and 17.2x of P/E ratio in 2021.

In 2021 the company had a capacity of 3,647MWs, in which 3,160MWs were by Coal-fired plants, and 487MWs by pumped-storage hydro, figure 22. This energy mix stands out in an opposing way to Exelon, with only 2 different types of resources to produce energy, and no nuclear or natural gas employed to generate energy. Furthermore, the fact that the company relies on coal for over 86% of its business implies that FirstEnergy will need to invest heavily in clean energy soon, to keep up with the industry trend. (Energy Coalition, 2022)⁵⁵.

In addition, FirstEnergy is the smallest company when it comes to generating capacity, out of the 10 being evaluated in the report with total assets being evaluated at \$45,432M.

Regarding interest payments, this expense will surely increase, since as mentioned in the 10-K report of First Energy, a portion of indebtedness is exposed to interest at fluctuating interest rates and has not hedged against this risk, unlike Southern Company, which hedges around half of its exposed notional.

Moreover, in 2021 FirstEnergy was charged with wired fraud, tarnishing the company's reputation and has agreed to pay a \$230 M monetary penalty (FirstEnergy charged Federally, 2021)⁵⁶.

Regarding other parameters of the Capital Structure, the company had the highest solvency ratio of the peers yielding 2.13. Lastly, FirstEnergy had the highest Revenue/Generating Capacity yielding \$3.05M per Megawatt for the year of 2021, since the company had revenues of \$11,132 M and sold 3,647 Megawatts of power.

Peers Comparison and Trends

Comparing the 10 peer companies to Southern, it is noticeable similar investments and trends amongst the 11 enterprises.

To assess peers and multiples, the median was employed instead of the regular average. The reason behind this choice was the fact that since only 10 companies were evaluated, if the average was considered, the data results would be skewed. Thus, median allows the valuation to be on the center of the database.

Firstly, the Cash Conversion Cycle of all companies is below one year, and the cash ratio for the utility companies is almost 0. The current ratio has a median value of 0.7 for the year 2021 and, this parameter has increased when compared with the 2 previous years.

Besides, the industry relies primarily on property, plant and equipment for its operations and to generate revenues. Therefore, as long as CCC is below one year, a current ratio of below 1 is

NOVA SCHOOL OF BUSINESS & ECONOMICS

not concerning. Notwithstanding, in regard to the parameter of Net PP&E to Total Assets, the peers' median is 0.69, with Southern Company yielding 0.64 for this measurement.

The debt ratio for the peers had a median value of 0.38. Nevertheless, this parameter has expanded, presumably due to the continuous investment in cleaner sources of power to generate electricity.

The debt-to-equity ratio of the group is 1.25 for the year 2021 and has risen 14.7% in one year. Out of the group a clear outlier is PG&E with D/E of 0.30, followed by FirstEnergy with a D/E ratio of 0.73 for 2021. As aforementioned, the company was charged a \$230M penalty, is the smallest of the peer group and is also the only firm using merely 2 energy sources (coal and hydro). All these factors combined could potentially be the reason for the value of 0.73 for the year 2021, albeit the average of the two previous years was not too far off, at 0.78. In contrast, Southern Company had the highest D/E ratio in 2021, yielding 1.64.

Regarding Gross Margin, the median of the group was 0.39, and the Revenue per MW of capacity was \$0.98M per megawatt. This metric was pondered for comparison reasons, as it wouldn't be ideal to compare revenues or capacities of different companies as no business has the same exact same size, consequently, skewing the data. For that purpose, this parameter was employed in order to understand how much revenue a company could produce, per Megawatt of capacity. Concerning this metric, FirstEnergy leads the way at a Revenue per Capacity of \$3.05M/MW, followed by PG&E with \$2.69 M/MW, Edison International with \$2.13M/MW and Exelon at \$1.12M/MW. In this parameter, Southern was the second worst company with \$0.53M/MW. Notwithstanding, the net profit margin for the companies with higher Revenue per MW of Capacity was eroded by the rest of the expenses along the Income Statement, with Exelon yielding the lowest net profit margins for 2021. In contrast FirstEnergy's net profit margin was below median at 12%. The median for this parameter was 13%, with Dominion Energy having the highest margin, at 24% in 2021. In contrast, in the year 2020, Dominion experienced a loss of \$401M, resulting in a negative profit margin of 3%. Lastly PGEG had a negative net margin of 11%, for the period of 2021.

Concerning investment trends, all of the companies aim to reduce emissions by 2030 and reach net carbon-emissions of 0% by 2050. Hence to reach the goal, the 10 companies are investing massively in cleaner technology. Exelon is paving the way when it comes to generating power without producing carbon emissions, with a percentage of 73% of nuclear and renewables in its energy mix, and 0% of coal. Moreover, NextEra has also divested in coal, yet the investment in greener technologies remains low, at 28% of the energy mix. In the meantime, Southern has the potential to further boost its clean energy percentage as Vogtle 3 and 4 will begin operations in 2023, nevertheless as of 2021 its green energy mix was 30% still relying on coal for 22% of their operations.

Consequently, the green movement in the energy industry is instigated mostly by a rise in nuclear and solar energy. The boost in nuclear energy, despite having a costly initial investment, has much less operational cost⁵⁷. Nevertheless, LCOE remains high at an average of \$167/MWh (Federal Reserve bank of Dallas, 2022)²³. For that reason, companies are additionally investing

SUSINESS & ECONOMIC

in solar energy, which as aforementioned in the Energy Evolution, Solar PV has become the most appealing source of energy with an average unsubsidized levelized cost of energy of \$36 per Megawatt-hour.

Notwithstanding, since Solar only has a capacity factor of 1/4th of nuclear capacity factor (b) (Office of Nuclear Energy, 2021)³⁶, a mix of both different resources is essential to be able to fulfil the demand at a sustainable cost.

Multiple Valuation

Multiple Valuation analysis is a supplementary methodology to the Discounted Cash Flows analysis and is based on forecasts of the DCF method. The primary difference between both models is that DCF is based on the Southern Company and its long-term prospects, whereas Multiples valuation is centered on the market's view of the energy industry.

The idea behind multiples analysis is to evaluate the different companies within the energy sector and geography and calculate Southern's implied value based on the peers' analyses. Thus, it is assumed that it is possible to rank and value an enterprise within a similar group (Berk and DeMarzo, 1962)⁵⁸. The first step of the method is to identify similar companies to Southern, for this, 10 U.S. energy utility companies were considered. To determine the enterprise value multiple, the metric of Enterprise Value / Earnings Before Interest Taxes, Depreciation and Amortization. Whereas to understand the equity multiple the Price per earning ratio was employed.

Regarding the EV/EBITDA multiple, the median by Southern peers was 13.4x for 2021, with a maximum of 35.5x and a minimum of 2.0x, the 25th and 75th percentile were also calculated at 10.2x and 20.2x respectively. From 2019 to 2021, the median of the multiple has increased from 12.0x to 13.4x, resulting in 11% growth. Interestingly, the EV/EBITDA multiple in another countries other than in the United States is lower at 10.2x for the same period.

Concerning the P/E multiple, the median of the peers was 17.4x, with a maximum and a minimum of 50.8x and -242.8x, respectively for the year of 2021. In this case the 75th percentile was 23.1x and the 25th percentile close to median at 16.8x. Other enterprises across the globe yielded a higher P/E multiple at 19.5x. Nevertheless, this metric was highly volatile for the period and hence the EV/EBITDA was considered a more reliable metric than P/E, disregarding the latter multiple.

In relation to Southern Company and with the aid of the discounted cash flows model, it was forecasted that the EBITDA for the enterprise to be 10,872.89M, and Net Income of \$2,509.51M, for the year 2023.

Furthermore, if multiples are held constant throughout years, it would be expected that the enterprise value of Southern Company for 2023 to be \$145,294.79M, using an EV/EBITDA multiple of 13.4x. This value would result in a share price for 2023 of \$83.09, yielding a return of 16.68% in one year, compared to the value of \$71.21, on December 13th, 2022.

For the year 2033, the DCF model predicted that EBITDA and Net Income were \$14,912.60M and \$2,741.19M respectively. In addition, if the same EV/EBITDA multiple is utilized, Southern



would have a total enterprise value of \$199,828.78M with share price of \$133.16.

Lastly, to conclude the multiples analysis, a bear and bull case were considered. The bear case takes into account the multiple of the 25th percentile of peers instead of the median, whereas the bull case considers the 75th percentile. Both the scenarios were calculated in the same fashion as the previous base scenario, only changing the multiples.

For the bear case the multiple of 10.2x EV/EBITDA was employed, yielding an enterprise value for Southern in 2023 of \$110,354.38M, and a share price of \$51.00. The return for the share price would then be -28.38% for the period of 1 year if the bear case held to be true. In regard to 2033, the bear scenario predicts an increase of share price of 25.03% in the course of 10 years, resulting in a stock price of 89.04 and enterprise value of \$151,774.10M.

On the optimistic side, the multiple is 15.4x, yielding an enterprise value of \$167,442.09M in one year, with a share price of \$103.42, generating a total return of 45.24%. In the meantime, the bull case for 2033 predicts an enterprise price of \$230,288.74M and stock price of 126.28%, resulting in returns of 126.28%.

Recommendation

When it comes to valuating if Southern is worth investing in, a multiple valuation was taken into account as a supplementary assessment of the Discounted cash flows model. Therefore, and despite the positive outlook of 16% return for the company, this value must be taken with prudency and the DCF model should consequently overrule the decision to invest in the company, as it explores other key operational factors hence it is advised to simply hold.

It is also worth noting that when accounting for differences in generating capacity, Southern seems to be lagging behind its peers, generating less Revenue per MW of capacity.



SOUTHERN COMPANY

ENERGY SECTOR

ANA BENJAMIM, HENRIQUE ZHAO

Southern aiming for nuclear returns

A safe bet against rising fuel prices

• EBITDA and Comprehensive Income increase to prepandemic levels. Following positive Q3 earnings reports, Southern Company expected to grow its Net Income to \$4,269M in 2022, stabilizing to \$2,625M in 2023, and growing to \$3,611M in 2023.

 Southern has completed the sale of Sequent ahead of schedule with additional \$93M after-tax gains. The company has also sold Gulf Power to Next Era Energy while increasing its renewable energy generation by 384MWs.

 Georgia Power to finish construction of Plant Vogtle Units 3 and 4 in 2023. Rate base rise for retail base rates approved as of 2022 for Unit 3.

• Through an additional Multiple analysis, an Enterprise Value of \$145,294M was assessed with an EV/EBITDA multiple of 13.4x.

• Valuation: Based on an Enterprise DCF reformulation and valuation, Southern Company is forecasted to reach a target price of \$75.31 by the end of 2023, achieving a return of 5.76%. Multiples Valuation was utilized as well for supplementary analysis and comparing results.

MASTER IN FINANCE

COMPANY REPORT

13 DECEMBER 2022

39498@novasbe.pt; 39336@novasbe.pt

Recommendation:	HOLD
Price Target FY23:	75.31 \$
Price (as of 13-Dec-22)	71.21 \$
Reuters: SO Bloomberg: SO:US	

52-week range (\$)	60.71-80.57
Market Cap (€m)	69,620.63
Outstanding Shares (m)	1,086

Source: Reuters



Source: Company data and Yahoo Finance

(Values in \$ Ms)	2021	2022E	2023F
Revenues	23,113	29,811	29,910
Revenue Growth	13.44%	28.98%	0.33%
Operating income	5,703	8,088	7,096
Operating Margin	24.67%	27.13%	23.72%
Comprehensive Income	2,382	4,242	2,591
ROIC	5.89%	8.31%	7.42%
ROE	7.32%	13.02%	7.36%

Company description

Southern Company is primarily regulated utility company that serves 9 million customers in the states of Mississippi, Alabama, and Georgia in the United States. The holding company distributes and sells Natural Gas services as well. Southern also participates in other markets such as Telecommunications and Fiber optic. Source: Company Data and Forecasts

THIS REPORT WAS PREPARED EXCLUSIVELY FOR ACADEMIC PURPOSES BY ANA BENJAMIM AND HENRIQUE ZHAO, A MASTER IN FINANCE STUDENT OF THE NOVA SCHOOL OF BUSINESS AND ECONOMICS. THE REPORT WAS SUPERVISED BY A NOVA SBE FACULTY MEMBER, ACTING IN A MERE ACADEMIC CAPACITY, WHO REVIEWED THE VALUATION METHODOLOGY AND THE FINANCIAL MODEL. (PLEASE REFER TO THE DISCLOSURES AND DISCLAIMERS AT END OF THE DOCUMENT)



Table of Contents

SOUTHERN COMPANY	3
SOUTHERN COMPANY WITHIN THE MODEL	3
SOUTHERN COMPANY COMMITMENT TO A GREENER FUTURE	
MACROECONOMIC CONTEXT	4
ENERGY MIX EVOLUTION	5
LEVELIZED COST OF ELECTRICITY	5
EVOLUTION OF NATURAL GAS IN THE UNITED STATES OF AMERICA NUCLEAR INVESTMENT	6 8
RELEVANT COMPETITORS ANALYSIS	9
Nextera	9
AMERICAN ELECTRIC POWER	11
	12
EXELON	13
PEERS COMPARISON AND TRENDS	15
FINANCIAL ANALYSIS	16
CASH FLOW AND LIQUIDITY ANALYSIS	16
CAPITAL STRUCTURE	17
RATE BASE CASES AND EVOLUTION	18
POWER GENERATION MIX INVESTMENT STRATEGY AND MERGERS	18 19
ROIC AND GROWTH	20
IMPACT OF RECENT INTEREST RATE CHANGES	20
	22
HEDGING AGAINST NATURAL GAS PRICE FLUCTUATIONS	22
DISCOUNTED CASH FLOWS VALUATION	23
REVENUES: ELECTRIC	23
	24
TAXES AND RESULT	24 26
BALANCE SHEET ITEMS	26
CAPITAL STRUCTURE	27
FREE CASH FLOW	27
VALUATION	28
SCENARIO ANALYSIS	28
SENSITIVITY ANALYSIS	29
MULTIPLE VALUATION	30
RECOMMENDATION	31
REFERENCES	32
APPENDIX	38
DISCLAIMERS	40



Southern Company

Back in the 1900s, James Mitchell, inspired by hydro-electric plants in England and the river force of Alabama, dreamt of electrifying the American South. Hence, he created Alabama Power on the 4th of December 1906 (Alabama Power, 2022)¹. It became the first of three electric holding companies that would later play major roles in the history of the company.

The company then proceeded to acquire and merge with other firms until it formed the Commonwealth & Southern Corporation. This system involved 5 Northern firms and 6 Southern corporations. Nevertheless, the massive company was dissolved in 1940 due to the Public Utility Holding Company Act (PUHCA) of 1935 (Chcom, 2020)². The PUHCA gave the Securities and Exchange Commission power to break apart electric utility holding enterprises and limited each electric utility holding to a single state (U.S. Energy Information Administration, 1993)³. Regardless of the PUHCA, 4 Southern electric holdings managed to be an integrated system and in November 1945, Southern Company was finally incorporated in Delaware.

Through expansions, acquisitions, and customer growth, Southern Company is now able to serve 9 million customers, both households and industrial clients across the U.S.A. and offers energy with over 43,202 MWs of nameplate generation capacity, natural gas distribution and services, as well as other services for example fiber optic and telecommunication services (Southern Company, 2022a)⁴.

Southern company Within the Model Both Income Statements and Balance Sheets can be organized according to a reformulation system⁵. This reformulation aims to divide a company's activity into its core and non-core portions to then analyze each relevant segment of the core portion of the company. Seeing Southern Company's main company description, the core component is composed of three main segments: Retail electricity generation and sales, Gas distribution and related services, and other core activities such as telecommunications (grouped under 'Other core businesses'). Under this framework, non-core activities consist of items that do not directly impact the ability of the company's operation to generate future turnover or results. Examples of these items are derivatives, one-off revenues or expenses such as COVID-19 benefits, pension related obligations, other non-controlling minority investments. This allows for more detailed analysis and forecasts into Southern Company's enterprise value.

Southern Company Commitment to a greener future In the foreseeable future, Southern Company aims to achieve carbon-neutrality by 2050, and a reduction of 50% in Greenhouse gases by 2030, relative to 2007. The strategy for the Southern Company to further evolve into a greener company



Figure 1: Territory served by Southern Company





Figure 2: Evolution of energy sources at Southern Company (Statista, 2022)

implies a reduction of both indirect and direct emissions. This is achieved by reducing coal-fired assets, increase in natural gas and nuclear energy consumption as means to lower carbon emissions, figure 2. In addition, other measures include: increase in renewable assets, finding carbon negative solutions (where the amount of CO_2 that the company removes from the atmosphere is greater than the CO_2 emissions of the company) and, investment in Research and Development of cleaner technologies (Southern Company, 2022b)⁶. The evolution of energy sources is depicted in graph 5, and the efforts in the reduction of coal are evident, as for 2010 coal represented almost 70% of the energy generated, and a decade later that value has dropped to 22% of the energy generated. (Statista SO energy by source, 2022)⁷.

Nevertheless, the efforts to reduce carbon emissions do not belong solely to the Southern Company, but to a growing coalition of countries that are pledging netzero by 2050. The Paris Agreement states that in order to contain global warming to no more than 1.5° Celsius compared to the late 1800s, overall Greenhouse gas emissions of the planet need to be reduced by 45% in 2030 compared to 2010, and net-zero by 2050. For this purpose, 193 parties consented to the Paris Agreement, including the main polluters – United States, China and the European Union, covering 76% of global emissions. The Agreement also sets long-term goals, reviews countries commitments to cutting emissions every 5 years, and provides climate financing to developing countries (United Nations, 2021)⁸.

Finally, considering the recent macroeconomic context, Southern company has managed particularly well as the utilities market is heavily regulated. As electricity is an inelastic good, by passing the increasing costs of natural gas to customers, Southern hedges the most concerning metrics of an Energy company. In addition, it also benefits from fixed debt payments and low exposure to variable interest rates. For these reasons, and despite the state of the economy, it is believed that Southern Company is a great investment, that offers a unique opportunity to hedge further against natural gas prices, and consequently electricity price expansion.

Macroeconomic Context

From the COVID-19 pandemic to the most recent Russo-Ukrainian conflict, the macroeconomic scenario around the world has been concerning.

It all started in 2020, a few months after the discovery of a virus that would propagate the world and lead markets to a downfall. The S&P ETF would decline from \$3380 to \$2300 in 5 weeks-time (Index S&P 500, 2020)⁹ and dragged along with it most stocks, including Southern Company's that had a value of \$70.40 in February of 2020 deteriorating to \$46.36 only a month later (Index Southern Company, 2022)¹⁰.



Due to the state of the economy both the ECB and the FED decided to help citizens with helicopter money along with other compensations, that would later increase inflation (The White House, 2021)¹¹.

In 2021 the market was recovering only to be struck again, in 2022, as a result of global economic uncertainties due to the conflict in Eastern Europe, between Russia and Ukraine, and the continuous increases in interest rates by the Federal Reserve of the U.S. .The war has increased the price of natural gas futures to more than double compared to January 2022, and 7 times, compared to March 2020 (Natural gas futures price, 2022)¹². Additionally, with the increase in price of petrol, inflation skyrocketed to a whopping 10.00% in August 2022 in the European Union and 8.26% in the United States in the same period. This led to a depreciation of the euro compared to the U.S. dollar to 0.95 euros per dollar. The price in the aforementioned raw materials had a massive impact in the economy.

Energy Mix Evolution

 Natural Gas
 Nuclear
 Renewables
 Oil
 Figure 3: 2010 U.S. Power Generation
 Coal
 Natural Gas
 Natural Gas
 Nuclear
 Nuclear

Coal

10%¹

Figure 4: 2021 U.S. Power Generation

> Levelized Cost of Electricity

Renewables

Nowadays, the energy sector is evolving, becoming cleaner and greener, yet, Humanity has gone through multiple trials and errors to achieve a sustainable energy mix. Not long ago, in 2010, the United States' sources of energy generation were as follows by figure 3, (Statista, 2021)¹³.

As observable by figure 3, in 2010, coal was the predominant type of resource used, with 45% of the U.S.'s power generation being reliable on this source. Yet, in 2021 the energy mix by the industry in the United States of America has changed drastically, as depicted in figure 4.

In recent years, coal has diminished to half its total percentage, and renewables doubled in size from 10% to 21%. Natural gas also increased from 24% to 38%, replacing coal as the most used fuel by 2021. Although natural gas is a fossil fuel in the same way as coal; burning this resource produces about half as much CO2 as coal in the production of same amount of energy (Reuters, 2020)¹⁴.

Nonetheless, it is crucial, and interesting to understand, what motivated the dramatic shift in energy mix by the industry in over the course of a decade, and the Levelized cost of electricity (LCOE) is used for this. Thus, LCOE is utilized to compare costs amongst the different types of energy generation. This indicator is a measure of the average net present cost of electricity for a generator over its lifetime in Megawatt-hour (a) (Corporate Finance Institute, 2022)¹⁵. In simplistic terms, the LCOE measures the lifetime costs of a plant, dividing it by its energy production over its life span.

As it is depicted below by figure 5, from the source: Solar lights up outlook for renewable energy in Texas in 2022 by the Federal Reserve Bank of Dallas¹⁶,

SOUTHERN COMPANY





renewables are taking a stance next to the less environmentally conscious peers. In fact, Solar PV Crystalline became the most appealing source of energy over the course of 12 years, with an average unsubsidized levelized cost of energy of \$36 per Megawatt-hour. Solar PV Crystalline, standing for Crystalline Silicon Photovoltaics is the most used technology in regard to photovoltaic panels.

To support this theory, it was analyzed the renewables and cleaner energy investments in 2021 (Visual Capitalist, 2022)¹⁷. In 2021, China had invested \$266 billion in renewables and low-carbon technologies. Whereas, the United States of America took the second spot, with \$114 billion spent in greener technologies. Notwithstanding, despite the impressive numbers, a supplementary assessment ^{\$60} to the percentages of energy consumption that are generated by the renewable's portraits a different reality. Even though China has made an enormous investment, the total percentage of energy consumption employed, using clean technology is

Solar Thermal Solar PV - Crystaline Coal

Figure 5: LCOE (\$/MWh)



Graph 6: REPowerEU





Figure 7: Blue: Southern's main electric service areas. Green: Henry Hub

of the primary energy coming from a clean source, followed by Norway with 70.56%, Sweden with 50.92% and Brazil with 46.22% (Our World Data, 2022)¹⁸.

14.95% as of 2021. Interestingly, the leader of renewables is Iceland with 86.87%

Adding to the international effort of fighting global warming, in 2021, the European Union set a target regarding the energy mix inside the E.U. of at least 40% clean energy by 2030. Nonetheless, on the 18th of May 2022, the commission released the REPowerEU plan, in order to "rapidly reduce EU's dependence on Russian fossil fuels well before 2030 by accelerating the clean energy transition". Proposing that the previous directive of 40% by 2030, to be reconsidered, and setting a new target of at least 45% of renewables in the energy mix of the energy sector (European Commission, 2022)¹⁹. In graph 6 it is observable the different directives by the European Commission over the years, with the last one being at 45% clean energy by 2030. The relevance of the European Commission is unquestionable since it is the forefront of international efforts to combat climate change and plans to raise its targets in order to tackle global warming under the Paris Agreement. The United States has also further its commitment to net-zero carbon emissions, not only to power-plants, but to American homes and businesses by 2035. (U.S. to slash carbon emissions, 2022)²⁰.

In the transition to reduce greenhouse gas emissions worldwide, Natural Gas stands as the fossil fuel that helps facilitate this transition as it has much lower emissions. The Henry Hub index is the primary United States benchmark for the price of natural gas. Depending on the location, spreads are then applied taking into account distribution and transportation costs through pipelines with distance and demand affecting the spread. Also worth noting that Henry Hub is situated in the Southeast of the United States (Louisiana), relatively in proximity to the regions where Southern Company's retail electric generation plants operate (Mississippi,





Graph 8: Henry Hub Index (2020-2022)



Graph 9: Natural Gas imported from outside the EU (evolution in %) Alabama, Georgia) meaning that the spread is not as impactful in the analysis of natural gas prices compared to the actual spot price at Henry Hub, figure 7. Natural Gas is sold in \$ per mmBtu as in M British Thermal Units. Historically this index has been relatively stable with a decreasing trend in the past few years with an inverting trend beginning in 2021 (US Energy Information Administration²¹).

The Henry Hub index averaged at 2.04\$/mmBtu in 2020, increasing by 92.06% to 3.91\$/mmBtu in 2021, and increasing by another 71.66% to 6.71\$/mmBtu as of September 2022 as presented by the EIA (US Energy Information Administration²¹), graph 8. These changes were the consequence of two separate situations that have influenced each other resulting in these two spikes in such a short amount of time. The first situation occurred in February 2021, when the average price of natural gas increased by approximately 900% on average in the United States with the Mid-Continent region seeing a price surge of 1,370% compared to previous year values according to S&P²². This sharp monthly increase was due to an unexpected winter storm that hit Texas and Oklahoma leading to much of Natural gas stored supply being promptly used to produce heating and electricity to cope with the catastrophe²³. It is also important to note that American natural gas seasonal trends are reversed when compared with that of European season trends. While Europe mostly saves up natural gas during the summer as there are spikes mostly during winter times as the continent uses more natural gas for heating²⁴, the United States has a spike mostly during summer times. Natural Gas prices usually peak in the winter in regions where Southern Company operates, general electric utilities sales though peak in both summer and winter seasons. This is because the country also uses natural gas and electricity for its air conditioning needs to fight the heat (Martínez and Torró, 2015)²⁵ leading to higher spot prices after decreases in storages in the winter. These sharp decreases in stored natural gas in the winter lead to significantly higher demand for US natural gas in the summer as a result of higher marginal cost production and demand inelasticity.

For instance, after a significant decrease in stored natural gas supply in February 2021, the rise in demand in the summer was not met with a similar growth in supply. Lower storage of natural gas correlated with higher prices afterwards²⁶ during the summer period. This led to a further boost in prices of natural gas in an overall upwards trend throughout the rest of 2021. Therefore, seasonal trends in US prices at the Henry Hub "are not directly linked to the global market, even as the country sends about 15% of its gas production overseas in the form of liquified natural gas" as stated by CNBC²⁷ with American seasonality prices of this fuel being unique.

Contrary to the United States, the European Union does not produce much of the natural gas it uses (importing more than 80% in 2020, graph 9), instead importing







Graph 10: Evolution of Uranium fuel prices (2014-2022)



Graph 11: Evolution of Uranium fuel prices (2014-2022)

Nuclear energy investment it through pipelines from other countries outside the EU. At the start of 2022, Europe imported around 40% of its natural gas from Russia though pipelines²⁸, graph 10. Due to the start of the war between Russia and Ukraine and the consequent sanctions imposed on Russia by the EU, European imports of natural gas are now down to 9% as of September 2022²⁹. This significant decrease in imports has led to a shortage in supply as, unlike the U.S., Europe has its demand spike for natural gas during the winter months when heating requirements increase in the colder European countries. Even though the European Commission has proposed gas demand reduction plans to prepare the union for supply cuts³⁰, these demand reductions are not enough to fully account for the reduction in stored natural gas. To prevent the worst consequences of supply shortages, the EU imported as much natural gas from other sources as possible in the earlier months of the year to save up for the winter period. Therefore, Europe required natural gas from countries such as the United States where natural gas must be bought through LNG (Liquified Natural Gas) to be able to be transported across the Atlantic Ocean. LNG is significantly more expensive than natural gas sold through pipelines as liquefying natural gas requires the fuel to be cooled with various cryogenic processes and transported throughout the entire journey in special cryogenic vessels³¹. Consequently, natural gas prices at Henry Hub also raised as LNG prices for Europe are about four times higher than LNG prices within the United States. U.S. natural gas production has also not completely recovered since the pandemic meaning that similarly to the effects of the winter storms of 2021, the rise in demand in the summer months in 2022 could not be accompanied by a similar growth in supply (as the speed of production in 2022 has not fully picked up while stored amounts decreased during the first half of the year as the US sold much of its supply to the EU) leading to yet another sharp increase in natural gas prices by 71%³². These two yearly changes have severely impacted Southern Company's costs as fuel is one of the most crucial expenses in the company's operating structure. Furthermore, as Southern Company shifts away from generation sources such as Coal to Natural Gas due to its lower greenhouse gas emissions, it also means that Southern Company is increasingly exposed to price increases at Henry Hub. Thusly, increasing investments into the Nuclear sector from Southern can also be seen as a hedge against this risk as Nuclear fuel prices are generally more stable and uranium spot prices (\$/lb U₃O₈) have decreased steadily since 2008 more than halving its spot price³³, graph 11.

Southern Company along with its subsidiary Georgia Power and Southern Nuclear, are investing in nuclear plants, more specifically Plant Vogtle Units 3 and 4. These plants will be the first U.S. reactors to use the AP1000 technology (a) (Office of Nuclear Energy, 2022)³⁴. Which are designed to be safer through a two-loop pressurized water reactor, (Westinghouse, 2022)³⁵ and to shut the reactors without





Figure 12: Capacity Factor

any operator action or power source. Furthermore, the design of the plants also uses less piping, valves and pumps than other reactors, leading to lower maintenance and operating costs, thus giving Southern a competitive advantage in regards to this technology once fully functioning.

Furthermore, nuclear also has other benefits other than being cleaner that the other fossil fuels such as its increasingly cheaper cost. Despite the carbonemissions made by the extraction of uranium, the process of producing electricity with the aid of nuclear plants does not emit carbon dioxide to the atmosphere, hence contributing to the net-zero carbon emission goal of 2050.

Nuclear plants have the highest capacity factor, compared to any source, (b) (Office of Nuclear Energy, 2021)³⁶. Having the capacity of operating at maximum power for 92.5% of the year, whereas coal sits far behind at only 49.3%, and solar at 24.6%, as portraited by figure 12. Moreover, nuclear plants require refueling only 1 time per 2 years, consequently being less troublesome to maintain.

Despite the cost of \$10.4 billion so far (subject to future changes in project estimation), both Vogtle 3 & 4 employed 7000 workers and 800 on permanent jobs since the start of operations, therefore developing local economy. Additionally, the plants have been one of the largest infrastructure projects in the U.S.A. and could represent a hedging solution to the rise in price of natural gas due to the uncertainty in regard to the conflict between Ukraine and Russia. Once the plants complete construction, these will be able to power 1 million customers for the next 60-80 years (Georgia Power, 2022)³⁷. Additionally, the success of the plants in 2023 could potentially have a positive influence for another energy companies to start investing more in this technology, representing a leading shift in the industry.

Relevant Competitors Analysis

To create a proxy for the energy utilities sector in the United States, 10 companies were chosen as relevant peers to Southern Company. Out of these, 5 were chosen for a more in depth analysis in the following section.



NextEra Energy (NEE) is an energy company and the greatest generator of renewable energy from the wind and sun (a) (NextEra Energy, 2022)³⁸. Furthermore, to complete its operation, it also relies on, and operates generating plants powered by natural gas, nuclear energy, and oil (b) (NextEra Energy, 2022)³⁹. This company is the most similar to the Southern Company, in terms of the types of business it conducts in. Its EBITDA is \$6,837M and the Enterprise value of the company is \$242,930M, with multiples of 35.5x (EV/EBITDA) and 50.8x (P/E). It currently operates in over 15 states in the United States, and offers electricity in Texas through Gexa Energy, an affiliate company, figure 13.





Figure 13: NextEra operational area



Figure 14: NextEra Energy Mix

Regarding revenues, the company has made \$17,049M for the year 2021. For this period, the energy mix utilized by the company was of 70% Natural Gas, 22% of nuclear power, 6% Solar energy and 2% of other fuels with a total 28,450 MW of generating capacity, figure 14.

Interestingly, NextEra did not utilize coal to generate power, even closing its last coal-fired plant in June of 2021. In comparison, Southern has a different energy mix, consisting of 12% of renewable energy, 18% of nuclear, 48% of natural gas, but yet, 22% of coal. Additionally, NextEra Energy plans to include 1,640 MW of solar generating capacity in its portfolio by 2023 and 1,200 MW of natural gas generating units through 2022 (FirstEnergy Investor relations, 2021)⁴⁰.

Concerning the Cash Flow management of the company, NextEra has had a negative conversion cycle for the past 3 years of operations. The inventory of NextEra for 2021 was valued at \$1,561M, and cost of sales of \$8,508M, resulting in an average holding period of 67 days. Yielding a similar result for the average collection period of 72 days. Notwithstanding, the fact that the average payable period is over 9 months, allows the company to have a rapid Cash Conversion Cycle of negative 158 days. Meaning that the inventory is sold before it must be paid to suppliers. In contrast Southern has a Cash Conversion Cycle of 31 days.

In common, both Southern and NextEra have a similar Net Debt, yielding \$52,914M to Southern and \$53,331M to NextEra. Nonetheless, it is not normal for NextEra to hold this parameter above \$50,000M, and the reason may lie on the acquisition of Texas water and wastewater systems - "NextEra Water Texas, LLC, an indirect subsidiary of NextEra Energy Resources, LLC, announced that it has completed the previously announced acquisition of a portfolio of rate-regulated water and wastewater utility assets in eight counties". Through this purchase, NextEra Water expanded its portfolio into 28 water and wastewater utility systems (NextEra water acquisition, 2022)⁴¹.

Another acquisition of no less importance was the purchase of Gulf Power, a subsidiary of Southern Company. This purchase took place in 2018, and NextEra gained access to the largest electricity producer in Northwest Florida (NextEra acquires Gulf Power, 2019)⁴². This allowed NextEra to capture 51% of the residential demand in Florida.

In addition, the enterprise has kept a constant net PP&E/Assets ratio, with an average of 0.71 for the last 3 years. Notwithstanding, the current ratio for NextEra yielded 0.53 for 2021, in turn it would mean that if the company liquidated all of its current assets, it would only be able to pay half of its current liabilities. In contrast, Southern had a current ratio of 0.82 for the same period.



AEP AMERICAN° ELECTRIC POWER



Figure 15: American Electric Power Service Areas



Coal Natural Gas Nuclear Renewables

Figure 16: American Electric Power Energy Mix NextEra's Debt to Equity ratio stands at 1.17 for the year of 2021, and it is predictable that it decreases as the company has issued \$2 billion in outstanding shares. "NextEra Energy, Inc. (NYSE: NEE) announced today that it intends to sell \$2.0 billion of equity units. Each equity unit will be issued in a stated amount of \$50 (NextEra to sell equity units, 2022)⁴³.

American Electric Power (AEP) is a public utility holding company that operates in the generation, transmission, and distribution of electricity. This company has 5 M customers and serves 11 different states across the U.S.A., including, Arkansas, Indiana, Kentucky, Louisiana, Michigan, Ohio, Oklahoma, Tennessee, Texas, Virginia, and West Virginia, figure 15 (Operating Companies, 2022)⁴⁴. Regarding its multiples it has an EV/EBITDA of 12.6x and a price to earnings ratio of 17.5x. With an enterprise value of \$78,800 M and EBITDA of \$6,237 M, in 2021.

Concerning revenues the company had sales of \$16,792 M and a gross margin of 0.46, lower than the Southern Company, yielding 0.7 for the same period (2021). The energy mix of the company has a similar percentage of nuclear energy being employed at 22%. Notwithstanding, the company still heavily relies on coal, with an overall percentage for 2021 of 50%, natural gas for 16% and renewables only for 12% of the energy mix with a total generating capacity of 21,169 MWs, figure 16, (AEP Form 10-K)⁴⁵.

In regard to Cash Flow management, the enterprise has managed to accomplish a Cash Conversion cycle of exactly 0 days. With an average payable period of 82 days, and collection period of 42 days.

When it comes to net debt, Southern has an average for a 5-year period of \$48,757M, whereas American Electric Power has an average of \$29,286M. The difference in debt amounts might be explained by the fact that Southern has a larger customer base, as well as a recent increase in nuclear energy investments. Notwithstanding, Net PP&E for American Electric Power has a value of \$66,001 M, with total assets valued at \$87,688M, yielding a Net PP&E/Total assets of 0.75 in 2021 (for Southern the value was lower at 0.64 for the same parameter).

Moreover, both PP&E and Debt are expected to increase in value due to the recent new renewables capacity purchase of 999.5 MW, whilst becoming a hedge against energy price volatility (News Releases 2022)⁴⁶.

Yet, despite the investment in renewables, American Electric power announced that it would be selling Kentucky Operations, including Kentucky Power, an utility subsidiary, and Kentucky Transco, a transmissions business, by the end of 2022⁴⁷.

The company's current ratio for the period of 2021 was 0.63, whereas Southern yielded a current ratio of 0.82. Still, the Solvency Ratio have similar results in both



Dominion Energy



Figure 17: Dominion Energy Service Areas



Figure 18: Dominion Energy Mix

companies, yielding 0.34 for the Southern Company and 0.35 for American Electric Power, respectively, for the period of 2021.

Dominion Energy (D) is an electric and power company based in Virginia and serves 7 million customers⁴⁸ (a) (Dominion Energy, 2022). This company provides natural gas, electricity and has also generation facilities across the United States. In 2021 the company generated an EBITDA of \$5,497 M with an Enterprise Value of \$10,755M, resulting in an EV/EBITDA multiple of 2.0x and a price to earnings ratio of 19.4x. The modest enterprise value multiple might be explained by the fact that in 2021, Ullico bought most of the Dominion Energy company and is expected to close the sale in 2022⁴⁹ (b) (Dominion Energy, 2022). Nevertheless, the company provides electricity in Virginia, North Carolina, and South Carolina and natural gas to Utah, Idaho and Wyoming, West Virginia, Ohio, Pennsylvania, North Carolina, South Carolina, and Georgia. In addition, the enterprise has production facilities in Indiana, Illinois, Connecticut, and Rhode Island, figure 17.

Dominion had revenues of nearly \$14,000M over the course of 2021. This result was the lowest of the 3 years (2019 to 2021). Despite this, Dominion has a generation capacity of 28,450 MW for 2021. In the meantime, the gross margin was 0.48 in 2021, which yields better results than if compared to the year of 2019, with a gross margin of 0.42.

Regarding investment goals, the company is investing in nuclear energy in order to attain the goal of net zero by 2050. Nonetheless. the business had an energy mix for 2021 containing 35% of nuclear energy, 48% natural gas, renewables 6% and only 11% of coal, with a total of 25,066 MW of generating capacity, figure 18. Additionally, Dominion has purchased a significant amount of power when compared to peers, totaling 5,134 MW of extra capacity purchased (Dominion Form 10-K, 2021)⁵⁰.

In terms of capital structure, Dominion has been expanding its net debt by 12.5% per year from 2019 to 2021 on average. Net PP&E/Assets ratio was 0.6 for 2 consecutive years (2020 and 2021). Yet, the latter will presumably shift due to the recent approval in extra capacity for this year. "The proposal includes 10 solar and energy storage projects, totaling nearly 500 MW, that will be owned and operated by Dominion Energy Virginia. The proposal also includes power purchase agreements (PPAs) with 13 solar and energy storage projects, totaling more than 300 megawatts, that are owned by independent developers" (New Solar and Energy Storages, 2022)⁵¹. In addition, the investment is in line with the treaty of Paris and important for ESG standards. Consistent with the ESG – inclusion, Dominion also has several military programs to incorporate veterans in the company (Navy Veteran, 2022)⁵².



Concerning funding, it is part of Dominion's strategy and interest to continue investing in green energies. As the company expects to invest up to \$21 billion from 2022 through 2035 in solar generation to achieve its target of 13,400 MW generating capacity in-service by the end of 2035.

Regarding other metrics, the current ratio of the company has increased from 0.64 in 2020 to 0.84 in 2021, portraying the enhanced ability to cope with their current liabilities. The financial autonomy ratio yields 0.27, hence for every dollar of assets, the company has \$0.27 of equity. In this parameter Southern yielded 0.25.

Exelon Corp (EXC) is an utility based in Chicago, and the largest regulated electric parent company with 10 million customers; 1 million more than the Southern Company. Through its operations, Exelon provides electricity distribution and transmission, and natural gas sales to Northern Illinois, Southeastern Pennsylvania, Central Maryland, Delaware, Southern New Jersey, and other regions in the Mid-Atlantic, Midwest, and New York, figure 19. Exelon has six subsidiaries, located and purchases electricity and natural gas from different sources through the aid of short-term, long-term contracts and spot rate contracts, in order to deliver the physical product to its customers. The customers vary between residential, commercial, industrial, public authorities and electric railroads (Exelon Corp overview, Exelon Corp)⁵³. In 2021 this company had an enterprise value of \$77,960 M and an EBITDA of \$9,782 M. Regarding multiples, it had an EV/EBITDA of 8.0x and a P/E ratio of 23.1x in the same period.

As of 2021, Exelon generated 36,502 MW of power, and purchased 4,102 MW resulting in revenues of \$18,498M. The energy mix of the company aims to be the cleanest of the peers with 20,899 MW generated by nuclear, with an average of 95% capacity factor, 8,819 MW of fossil fuels (primarily using natural gas and oil), 2,682 MWs using renewable energy, figure 20 (Exelon Report, 2021)⁵⁴. Compared to Southern Company, Exelon focuses a more significant portion of its mix in clean energy generation totaling 73% of the portfolio in clean energy, with 65% coming from nuclear, and 8% renewables, instead of natural gas production (27%). In addition, the company does not employ coal, potentially resulting in safer cash flows taking into account recent volatility in natural gas prices.

Considering Exelon's cash flow management, the average holding period was 28 days and payable period of 62 days, resulting in a CCC of 19 days. Thus, the enterprise is quick to convert its investments into cash inflows, as it is common within the energy industry.

Similarly to Southern Company, Exelon, has maintained a steady Net PP&E over Total Asset ratio around 0.60 since 2018. Nonetheless, the key difference is that Exelon has been decreasing its Current Ratio from 1.17 in 2018 to 0.87 in 2021,





Figure 19: Exelon Service Areas



Natural Gas = Nuclear = Renewables

Figure 20: Exelon Energy Mix



portraying a deteriorating capacity in meeting liabilities in the short run. The company has also boosted its Net Debt considerably since 2018 from \$38B to \$46B resulting in an expansion of the D/E ratio from 1.24 to 1.36 in 2021.

The increase in Net Debt is a result of the investments made in 2021 as a strategy to accomplish the goal of reducing emissions by 50% in 2030. In fact Exelon invested more than \$6.6 billion in energy infrastructure, with an additional \$29 billion planned for 2022–2025 (Exelon Releases, 2021)⁵⁵. Notwithstanding the total amount also includes investments in natural gas, and improvement in infrastructure.

As of 2022, Fitch ratings had diminished Exelon's rating from BBB+ to BBB while affirming a short-term credit quality of F2 as Good. Yet, Exelon's subsidiaries of Pepco, ACE, and PHI had their long-term rating upgraded from BBB to BBB+ while Pepco and ACE's senior secured rating was raised from A- to A (Exelon Investors Relationships, 2022)⁵⁶.

FirstEnergy



Figure 21: FirstEnergy Service Areas



Coal Renewables

Figure 22: Exelon Energy Mix

First Energy (FE) is an utility company with headquarters in Ohio, serving 6 million customers across 65,000 square miles in Ohio, Pennsylvania, West Virginia, Maryland, New Jersey, and New York, figure 21 (First Energy, 2022)⁵⁷. The company, along with ten subsidiaries provides the distribution, transmission, and generation of electricity. And supplies energy to residential, commercial, and industrial customers. This company had an Enterprise Value of \$46,530M and EBITDA of \$3,297 M in 2021, along with a multiple of 14.1x regarding EV/EBITDA and 17.2x of P/E ratio in 2021.

In 2021 the company had a capacity of 3,647MWs, in which 3,160MWs were by Coal-fired plants, and 487MWs by pumped-storage hydro, figure 22. This energy mix stands out in an opposing way to Exelon, with only 2 different types of resources to produce energy, and no nuclear or natural gas employed to generate energy. Furthermore, the fact that the company relies on coal for over 86% of its business implies that FirstEnergy will need to invest heavily in clean energy soon, to keep up with the industry trend. (Energy Coalition, 2022)⁵⁸.

In addition, FirstEnergy is the smallest company when it comes to generating capacity, out of the 10 being evaluated in the report with total assets being evaluated at \$45,432M.

Regarding interest payments, this expense will surely increase, since as mentioned in the 10-K report of First Energy, a portion of indebtedness is exposed to interest at fluctuating interest rates and has not hedged against this risk, unlike Southern Company, which hedges around half of its exposed notional.

Moreover, in 2021 FirstEnergy was charged with wired fraud, tarnishing the company's reputation and has agreed to pay a \$230 M monetary penalty



(FirstEnergy charged Federally, 2021)⁵⁹.

Regarding other parameters of the Capital Structure, the company had the highest solvency ratio of the peers yielding 2.13. Lastly, FirstEnergy had the highest Revenue/Generating Capacity yielding \$3.05M per Megawatt for the year of 2021, since the company had revenues of \$11,132 M and sold 3,647 Megawatts of power.

Peers Comparison and Trends

Comparing the 10 peer companies to Southern, it is noticeable similar investments and trends amongst the 11 enterprises.

To assess peers and multiples, the median was employed instead of the regular average. The reason behind this choice was the fact that since only 10 companies were evaluated, if the average was considered, the data results would be skewed. Thus, median allows the valuation to be on the center of the database.

Firstly, the Cash Conversion Cycle of all companies is below one year, and the cash ratio for the utility companies is almost 0. The current ratio has a median value of 0.7 for the year 2021 and, this parameter has increased when compared with the 2 previous years.

Besides, the industry relies primarily on property, plant and equipment for its operations and to generate revenues. Therefore, as long as CCC is below one year, a current ratio of below 1 is not concerning. Notwithstanding, in regard to the parameter of Net PP&E to Total Assets, the peers' median is 0.69, with Southern Company yielding 0.64 for this measurement.

The debt ratio for the peers had a median value of 0.38. Nevertheless, this parameter has expanded, presumably due to the continuous investment in cleaner sources of power to generate electricity.

The debt-to-equity ratio of the group is 1.25 for the year 2021 and has risen 14.7% in one year. Out of the group a clear outlier is PG&E with D/E of 0.30, followed by FirstEnergy with a D/E ratio of 0.73 for 2021. As aforementioned, the company was charged a \$230M penalty, is the smallest of the peer group and is also the only firm using merely 2 energy sources (coal and hydro). All these factors combined could potentially be the reason for the value of 0.73 for the year 2021, albeit the average of the two previous years was not too far off, at 0.78. In contrast, Southern Company had the highest D/E ratio in 2021, yielding 1.64.

Regarding Gross Margin, the median of the group was 0.39, and the Revenue per MW of capacity was \$0.98M per megawatt. This metric was pondered for comparison reasons, as it wouldn't be ideal to compare revenues or capacities of



different companies as no business has the same exact same size, consequently, skewing the data. For that purpose, this parameter was employed in order to understand how much revenue a company could produce, per Megawatt of capacity. Concerning this metric, FirstEnergy leads the way at a Revenue per Capacity of \$3.05M/MW, followed by PG&E with \$2.69 M/MW, Edison International with \$2.13M/MW and Exelon at \$1.12M/MW. In this parameter, Southern was the second worst company with \$0.53M/MW. Notwithstanding, the net profit margin for the companies with higher Revenue per MW of Capacity was eroded by the rest of the expenses along the Income Statement, with Exelon yielding the lowest net profit margins for 2021. In contrast FirstEnergy's net profit margin was below median at 12%. The median for this parameter was 13%, with Dominion Energy having the highest margin, at 24% in 2021. In contrast, in the year 2020, Dominion experienced a loss of \$401M, resulting in a negative profit margin of 3%. Lastly PGEG had a negative net margin of 11%, for the period of 2021.

Concerning investment trends, all of the companies aim to reduce emissions by 2030 and reach net carbon-emissions of 0% by 2050. Hence to reach the goal, the 10 companies are investing massively in cleaner technology. Exelon is paving the way when it comes to generating power without producing carbon emissions, with a percentage of 73% of nuclear and renewables in its energy mix, and 0% of coal. Moreover, NextEra has also divested in coal, yet the investment in greener technologies remains low, at 28% of the energy mix. In the meantime, Southern has the potential to further boost its clean energy percentage as Vogtle 3 and 4 will begin operations in 2023, nevertheless as of 2021 its green energy mix was 30% still relying on coal for 22% of their operations.

Consequently, the green movement in the energy industry is instigated mostly by a rise in nuclear and solar energy. The boost in nuclear energy, despite having a costly initial investment, has much less operational cost⁶⁰. Nevertheless, LCOE remains high at an average of \$167/MWh (Federal Reserve bank of Dallas, 2022)¹². For that reason, companies are additionally investing in solar energy, which as aforementioned in the Energy Evolution, Solar PV has become the most appealing source of energy with an average unsubsidized levelized cost of energy of \$36 per Megawatt-hour.

Notwithstanding, since Solar only has a capacity factor of 1/4th of nuclear capacity factor (b) (Office of Nuclear Energy, 2021)³⁶, a mix of both different resources is essential to be able to fulfil the demand at a sustainable cost.





Chart 23: Southern and Sector Cash Conversion Cycle



Chart 24: Southern and Sector Current Ratio

Capital Structure

Financial Analysis

Looking at the Cash Flow activity ratios (Average Holding Period, Average Collection Period, Average Payable Period), Southern Company has managed to maintain its healthy Cash conversion cycle of 31 days in 2021. The company has kept this indicator around 30-40 days since 2017. The company's larger average holding period of 123 days is counteracted by its average payable period of 139 days, resulting in the positive indicator. Following the analyzed companies in the 'Competition Analysis' section, a proxy for the industry average was computed in key ratios to compare with Southern Company. Taking into account the utilities sector's average Cash Conversion Cycle of 4 days in 2021, Southern seems to be in line with its peers. It is worth noting that while Southern Company has a longer Average holding period compared to the comparable 39 days, Southern also has a considerably longer Average Payable Period against the industry average of 62 days which balances out the effect in the final Cash Conversion Cycle. Thus, following similar values across the industry, Southern Company signs of quick conversion of cash flow liquidity, as seen in chart 23.

Southern Company's current ratio improved from 0.71 in 2020 to 0.82 in 2021. This represents a better ability for the company to meet its obligations in the short run, even if there is still room for improvement to cover some portions of these obligations. This indicator has a similar behavior across all players in the energy utility market in the US (with SO having overall healthier liquidity ratios) increasing from 0.58 in 2020 to 0.70 in 2021 on average, chart 24. This trend of improvement is also present in the quick ratio, developing from 0.51 to 0.61 in 2021 and the cash ratio improving from 0.09 to 0.16 in 2021. For comparison, the sector's quick ratio was similar at 0.62 while the cash ratio was significantly lower at 0.03 in 2021. Overall, while current ratios are still below 1, this is contextually normal for the industry and there are signs of significant improvement in SO's liquidity ratios. Combined with a healthy cash conversion cycle, signs of possible distress for Southern Company decreased significantly from 2020 to 2021.

tructure Following the start of the project of constructing Plant Vogtle Units 3 and 4 as discussed previously, net debt raised as it was the main way in which the project was financed. This has led a change in the debt-to-equity ratio from 1.52 in 2020 to 1.64 in 2021, chart 25. Comparatively, the industry increased from 1.18 in 2019 to 1.25 in 2021 with overall rising values of net debt following 2019 due to the COVID-19 pandemic. It is worth noting that while increasing, the industry D/E ratio remains significantly lower than Southern's capital structure, maintaining a consistent difference since 2019. As Southern has access to a cost of debt around 3%, if interest payments can be made with no significant increase in the probability





Rate base cases and evolution

of default, Southern can make use of more debt to further its investments into PP&E (particularly, the construction of nuclear Plant Vogtle Units 3 and 4 in recent years for example) with the higher D/E not necessarily signaling any immediate issues. Similarly, the solvency ratio (Equity over Liabilities) has decreased from 0.36 to 0.34 following a decreasing trend since 2019 due to the increase in debt while the industries has been relatively stable around 0.37. Given a target ratio of 1.53 by year 2033, net debt is set to expand from \$53B in 2021 to \$54B in 2023, up to \$74B by 2033. This amount of net debt will then continue to grow throughout the steady state period maintaining a constant D/E ratio of 1.53.

As energy utilities are a heavily regulated industry, revenues are usually controlled according to base rates. These rates dictate that revenues may not exceed certain values, ROE cannot exceed preestablished values and all rises must be approved in base rate cases by regulatory authorities. Therefore, it is crucial to analyze potential base rate raises to see potential future revenue growth. Alabama Power (one of the three entities that comprise of Southern Company's main business of electric utilities) has adopted a Rate RSE (Rate Stabilization and Equalization). These adjustments are for any two-year period if these do not exceed 4% with an annual limit of 5%. There is also a possibility of a raise of 0.07% if Alabama Power achieves a credit rating of A or is in the top one-third of a customer value benchmark survey, though this is currently improbable. Since Alabama Power has surpassed the WCER (Weighted common equity return) top of 6.15% in the years of 2019, 2020, and 2021. This has led to a \$181M refund back to customers as of 2021. \$126M out of the \$181M were allowed to be applied to reduce the Rate ECR (Alabama Power's Rate Energy Cost Recovery) through under recovered balances based on estimates of higher future energy costs while the rest were refunded back to customers through bill credits in July 2022. For Georgia Power, following the construction of Plants Vogtle 3 and 4, the entity has voted to approve rate increases for 2021 of \$111M and 2022 of \$157M. Georgia Power plans to end construction of Plant Vogtle Units 3 and 4 by 2023 in a forecasted remaining total project capital cost of \$10.4B of which \$8.4B has already been incurred by December 2021 (subject to future changes in project estimation). Financing costs were initially calculated to be \$3.4B for Plant 3 and \$2.9B for Plant 4 but the pandemic resulted in construction delays due to mandatory personnel being forced to guarantine from COVID-19 resulting in delays spanning several months with a further estimated loss of \$1.6B in 2021.

Power generation mix As of 2021, Southern had a total 43,202,267 KWs of generating capacity. Steam generation facilities using fossil fuels accounted for 31% of total capacity while Nuclear facilities were about 9%. Combustion Turbines and Combined Cycle turbines using natural gas accounted for 12% and 29% of total capacity,





Chart 26: Southern's fuel mix (2021)

respectively. Remaining facilities used renewable sources such as Hydroelectric, Solar, and Wind facilities each accounting for around 6% of total capacity (approximately 18% of renewable generation combined). Fossil fuels used for generation fell in cost such as Coal, decreasing from 0.0291\$/KWh to 0.0285\$KWh. Similarly, the cost of using Nuclear power diminished from 0.0078\$/KWh to 0.0075\$KWh. The surge in cost of Natural Gas explains why Southern Company decreased this fuel in its generation mix in 2021 (dropped from 52% to 48%) in favor of Coal (which expanded from 18% to 22% in 2021 following a previously steady decrease from 30% to 18% from 2017 to 2020). There was an expansion in the power generation percentage of Hydro and Wind, Solar, and Other renewables accounting for 12% of total power generation in 2021 (overall growing since 8% in 2017, charts 26. This illustrates the company's transition to lower emissions following the industry trend, as the deadline of 2030 by the Paris Agreement approaches.

Southern Company invested \$5B in PP&E from 2020 to 2021 with \$3.5B related Investment strategy and Mergers to the construction of Plant Vogtle Units 3 and 4 at Georgia Power after a \$5.4B investment from 2019 to 2020. This raised total PP&E to \$115.5B in 2021 from \$110.5B in 2020. Revenue growth in the electric utilities industry is mainly derived from base rate cases being approved by the state PSC (Public Service Commission) for each state Southern operates in. This in turn depends on the company being able to serve more customers with enhanced efficiency. Net PP&E over Total Assets has remained constant from 2020 at 0.64 increasing from 0.63 in 2019. This indicates that PP&E represents a significant portion of Southern's total assets. For comparison, the utilities sector proxy had a value of 0.69 in 2021. It is then apparent that in the industry of electric utilities it is common to have PP&E represent most of a company's total assets. The investment in PP&E in 2020 and 2021 are mostly due to the construction of Plant Vogtle Units 3 and 4, adding generating capacity by a total of 2,200 MWs (1,100MWs each) allowing Southern to serve an additional 1 M customers. The construction of these Nuclear facilities will further increase this energy's impact in the energy mix of Southern's generation, allowing the company to further decrease its environmental impact by being able to reduce the percentage of fossil fuels needed to generate electricity as well as increased generation reliability coupled with lower fuel costs in the future. This investment accounts for approximately \$3.4B with \$2.9B incurred through December of 2021. However, Southern Company generates on average \$0.53M per MW of generating capacity while the utilities sector proxy had an average of \$0.98M per MW of capacity. This may signal that Southern's generating facilities are not creating as many revenues when compared to similar peers. Conversely, there has also been a noteworthy divestment of \$400M in PP&E by the sale of several Gas Storage facilities by Southern such as Jefferson Island



(Natural Gas Storage Facility) and Triton (cargo container leasing company that was aggregated into Southern Company Gas), decreasing Gas Storage facilities PP&E from \$1.7B to \$1.3B in 2021 being the only segment of PP&E that decreased.

Southern Company sold Gulf Power to a wholly owned subsidiary of NextEra for approximately \$5.8B (minus \$1.3B of indebtedness assumed) as of 2019 for an estimated \$1.4B after tax gain. There were also other sales such as Pivotal LNG, Atlantic Coast Pipeline, and Sequent with the latter being the second largest sale at \$159M. Other plants were also sold including a natural gas and biomass plants (Plant Mankato and Plant Nacogdoches) representing 500MWs worth of capacity with earnings totaling \$41M as of 2019. Southern also completed the acquisition of multiple wind and other renewable plants, including Deuel Harvest, Beech Ridge II, DSGP with a total capacity of 384 MWs to add to its renewable portion in the generation mix.

ROIC and growth



Graph 27: ROIC evolution

Total ROIC decreased from 8.06% to 6.70% in 2021 with Core ROIC (Return on Invested Capital) decreasing from 7.49% in 2020 to 5.68% in 2021, graph 27. This evolution is mainly related to a worsening operational result from \$6B to \$4.8B despite the change in investment in Invested Capital (from \$81.6B to \$85.5B in 2021). RONIC (Return on New Invested Capital) is thus negative at -36.97% following a similar trend of -32.41% from 2019 to 2020 due to decreases in the net result despite increases in invested capital. This is also a consequence of investment into new plants taking time before they can begin operations to produce revenues, such as Plant Vogtle Unit 3 and 4. Analyzing the three main core segments - Electric utilities segment, Natural Gas segment, and Others segment (including other core business such as Telecommunications), there are different insights to be had. The core electric segment followed the same trend as the overall core ROIC seeing as it occupies the largest percentage of core revenues and invested capital, decreasing its ROIC from 8.57% to 5.97% in 2021 with a RONIC of -68.30%. Contrasting with this, due to soaring natural gas prices as well as improved revenues during the colder weather in the Heating season, the Natural Gas Segment grew its ROIC from 5.20% to 5.66% in 2021 with a RONIC of 13.81%. This positive evolution however was not able to compensate the overall decline in the result of the Electric segment as the Natural Segment has less than one third of the invested capital and consequently less operational result. Finally, the Others (telecommunications, etc.) segment also had a decreasing ROIC, continuing the negative trend from -3.44% to -7.19% in 2021 with a RONIC of -12.98% as revenues decreased. However, the divestment in invested capital in this segment led to a better RONIC compared to the evolution of 2019 to 2020 of -18.85%. Divestment in invested capital in 2021 in this segment, therefore, leads

SOUTHERN COMPANY

COMPANY REPORT



to a positive growth rate of 52% as the negative investment rate combined with a negative RONIC produced a positive growth rate. Core ROIC is forecasted to 7.01% in 2023 and to converge towards 7.31% in 2033 in the steady state.

Impact of recent interest rate changes

Variable interest rate exposure from Southern Company is approximately \$45M for a 100-basis point change in interest rates with \$4.5B of long-term variable interest rate exposure. The transition from LIBOR to IBOR systems is also not expected to have a drastic impact to Southern Company. Following historical levels of inflation in the United States exceeding 8% (at 8.2% at September 2022 according to OECD's database⁶¹, the US Federal Reserve has voted in September of 2022 to "unanimously [to] approve a ³/₄ percentage point increase in the primary rate to 3.25 percent" to tackle the high levels of inflation in the country⁶². Similar to the European Central Bank's objective, the Federal Reserve has also stated in a press release on September 21, 2022 that the Committee is "strongly committed to returning inflation to its 2 percent objective" and that they "anticipate that ongoing increase in the target range will be appropriate"63. As of November 2nd, 2022, the US Federal Reserve further voted to rise the primary interest rate by another 3/4 percentage point to a primary rate of 4 percent⁶⁴. Thus, given there is a high level of uncertainty regarding possible future interest rate hikes and changes in monetary policy it is prudent to look at the exposure of Southern Company to these possible changes. As of December 2021, Southern Company had a total of 4,464M notional amount exposed to long-term variable interest rates. The weighted average interest rate on this exposed amount was 0.84%. Therefore, it is calculated that with a 100-basis point change in interest rates, interest expenses would increase by 45M every year. Considering the Federal Reserve's interest rate hike of 75 basis points as of September 2022 and further raise by 75 basis points in November 2022, and possible future rises, this interest expense may have an impact in the company's result. Consequently, it is likely that long-term variable interest rates increase by a total of 150 basis points from December 2021 to December 2022 resulting in a raise in annual interest expenses by \$67.5M without hedges with possible further changes in 2023. All in all, considering Southern Company's returns, these interest rate developments should not significantly impact results in a meaningfully negative manner.

As of 2021, the company had \$1,900M hedged against variable interest rates given its \$4,464M notional amount of exposure. These derivatives have maturities ranging between 2028 and 2031 with weighted average interested rates paid according to the 1-month LIBOR rate plus a spread. The received fixed interest rate is approximately 2.78% as a weighted average of the notional hedged amounts. This value is lesser than the average yearly interest payments of 3.65% by the company on its debt. Thus, Southern Company has hedged 42.56% of its **SOUTHERN COMPANY**



notional amount exposed to variable interest rates away, meaning that the previously forecasted 150bps change in interest rates would only lead to an increase in annual interest rate expenses worth \$38.8M instead of \$67.5M. This decreases Southern Company's exposure to increases in interest rates by the Federal Reserve even further considering the amount of leverage that it has in its capital structure.

In 2021 the company did not have any credit arrangements or material changes Credit rating resulting in changes to payment schedules in the case of a downgrade credit rating in the short term. Nonetheless, newly acquired debt would increase in cost accordingly to the new lower rating which in turn may change the desirable capital structure for the company. Considering Southern's long term contracts, the company would be required to increase its collateral if its credit rating were to decrease. In the case of a credit downgrade in the long-term issuer default rating to BBB and/or Baa2, Southern would be required to supplement its collateral by \$41M. In a downgrade to BBB- and/or Baa3 this amount would be \$419M. If Southern were to have a downgrade to BB+ and/or Ba1 or below these contracts would demand an increase in collateral by \$1,934M. Given that Southern has not had a rating change since February 2018, when it was decreased from A- to BBB+65, it has remained affirmed with a relatively stable outlook since. Though currently marked with a negative outlook by Fitch ratings, the rating has remained Affirmed and in the small likelihood that it does decrease to BBB or even BBB-(which is even more unlikely), the increase in collateral amounts in the short term should not have a significant impact in the operation and forecasted outlook of Southern Company.

Hedging against Natural Gas price fluctuations

Considering that Southern Company generated 179 billion KWH as of 2021 with over 43,202 MWs of total nameplate capacity out of which 48% was produced with natural gas, it is important to analyze the volume of natural gas required to fuel Southern Company's retail electric segment. Southern Company currently has over 12,414 MWs of combined cycle facilities and has been authorized to build 720-MW combined cycle facilities in Alabama Power's Plant Barry as well as acquiring 240MWs worth of combined cycle generation under a long-term PPA as of 2020. Among other acquisitions such as an 885-MW combined cycle generation facility of Central Alabama Generating Station, it is possible to estimate that Southern Company has a mix of both simple and combined cycles in its natural gas generation facilities. EIA (US Energy Information Administration) published data in 2015 that combined cycle technology had an average heat rate of 7,340Btu/kWh while simple cycle technology had an average heat rate of 9,788Btu/kWh. By analyzing the nameplate capacity of Southern's powerplants, combined cycle capacity represents over 39.6% of total fossil steam, combustion



turbines, cogeneration, and combined cycle facilities. Therefore, Southern Company is thus estimated to have used approximately 714 M mmBtu of natural gas to generate its power. Worth noting that Southern has around 311M mmBtu in net long position derivatives as of 2021. So, Southern has an estimated exposed unhedged amount of 403M mmBtu to changes in natural gas prices. However, it is relevant to note that a portion of this exposure is reduced due to regulations that pass fuel costs onto customers without the company having to incur on additional fuel expenses due to its long-term contracts. Given recent trends, and the industry trend increase of the relevance of natural gas as a source of electricity generation, Southern's fuel prices are forecasted to trend upwards in this valuation with fuel prices maintaining a positive drift throughout the next years.

For the traditional electric operating segment, the company enters energy-related derivatives to hedge its exposure against the primary sources of volatility in the operation such as natural gas and other fuel price changes (Note 14 of SO's Annual 2021 report). Nonetheless, since regulations and rates are cost-based, exposure is limited as long-term sales contracts shift most of fuel costs changes onto customers.

Discounted Cash Flows Valuation

Revenues: Electric

The main segment of core revenues – Retail electricity generation and sale – is further subdivided into three main categories of Residential, Commercial, and Industrial revenues. With Residential being the main source of retail electric revenues, this category accounts for more than 43% of retail electricity sales as of 2021. With a predicted growth in revenue per KWH sold of 2.80% yoy (average between 2018 and 2021) and a growth in the KWH sold by 0.467% (according to the growth rate of the US population in the latest census), Residential sales may grow from \$6,207M in 2021 to \$8,389M in 2023, and up to \$11,582M in 2033. Other subsegments of Retail electric revenues have their bases held constant, only varying by Revenue per KWH sold for a more prudent valuation. Additionally, since the industry in which Southern Company is inserted in is heavily regulated, revenue growth is capped both by regulations according to its relevant rate base and its operational costs. Revenue is thus directly constrained by the company's capacity to increase its PP&E. Therefore, regulated Revenues are not allowed to grow at significantly faster than investment rates into PP&E.

As Wholesale electric revenues deal with industrial customers and not residential customers, KWH sold are allowed to increase as long as Southern Company has enough capacity for new PPA (Power Purchase Agreements). Therefore, the KWH sold base is set to increase at the average between 2018 and 2021 of 0.24% while revenue per KWH sold is set to increase at the average rate of 3.35% (also average



between 2018 and 2021) until 2027 and converging to 3% as the steady state approaches (the investment rate of electric PP&E). As the effect of both drivers are stable, wholesale electric revenues are forecasted to increase at a stable 3.60% until 2027 and 3.25% from 2027 onwards, forecasted to change from \$1,851M in 2021 to \$3,898M in 2023, and \$5,438M in 2033. The significant initial increase is due to wholesale electric revenues climbing sharply by 103.28% from 2021 to 2022 as a result of both revenue per KWh sold changing by 20.85% while new PPA agreements added more than 17.3% to the KWh sold base.

Similarly to the retail electric segment, the Natural gas distribution segment is also Revenues: Gas further subdivided into several categories - Residential, Commercial, Transportation, Industrial, and Others. Since Residential customers are households, once again the customer base is set to expand at the rate of the population growth value of 0.467% from the latest US census⁶⁶. The total customer base is set to increase as well following the relatively high investment rate into Natural Gas PP&E by Southern to increase the market it can service at 0.62% yoy. Revenue per customer is then projected to grow at 4.07% yoy throughout the forecasted period from \$3,625M in 2021 to \$5,663M in 2033. This average growth rate between 2018 and 2022 is less than the rate from 2020 to 2021 at 25.52% because that rate was mostly a result increased prices of natural gas in the United States following a one-time 92.06% rise in the fuel at Henry Hub due to winter storms in February 2021. Therefore, the overall growth rate of gas distribution revenues was set to a stable rate of 4.70% to determine a valuation scenario of relatively sustained growth of the sector throughout the period from \$3,625M in 2021 to \$5,663M in 2033 (compared to forecasted 4.86% of yearly natural gas distribution PP&E investment rate). This is valid since the entire segment serves as a hedge for Southern Company against rising fuel prices with gas being a crucial input for its main Retail Electric and Wholesale electric segments. Rising natural gas prices increase costs and decreases margins for the main segments but boosts revenues for the Natural gas distribution and services sectors. It is then crucial for Southern Company to continue investing into this segment to diversify some of its risk exposure to this fossil fuel.

On the contrary, Natural gas services' revenue base are then forecasted to decrease on average -7.43% yoy on average from \$2,668M in 2021 to \$1,299M in 2033. Though 2021 showed an increase of 24.04%, on average this segment has been decreasing significantly in revenues in past years, resulting in divestment by Southern Company in the Gas Storage facilities PP&E explained previously that is forecasted to continue at an average yearly rate of -3.88%.



Taking into account Southern Company's main core segments (retail electricity **Operating expenses** generation and sale, wholesale electricity generation and sale, natural gas distribution, and natural gas services) it is unsurprising that the main operation costs are related to fuel, purchased power, and natural gas needed to generate sold power as well as natural gas inventories for sale. Fuel costs expanded the most due to a higher cost of natural gas seeing as electricity generation uses natural gas as 48% of its generation sources as of 2021. Therefore, Fuel costs are considered to grow from \$4,010M in 2021 to \$7,336M in 2023, and then at a 2.36% yearly rate to \$9,254M in 2033 to accompany similar levels of growth in revenues. This significant increase from 2021 to 2023 is possible as both regulated industries of electricity generation and natural gas distribution are allowed to pass on a portion of rising fuel costs to their customers. Therefore, as revenues can absorb a portion of higher fuel costs, the Gross Margin is forecasted to decrease from 43% in 2021 to 36% in 2022. Then this margin is forecasted to remain relatively stable around 36% until 2033 even though operating expenses increase significantly. The process can be seen through the one-time increase of over 30.8% in retail electric revenues from 2021 to 2022 (estimate) by over \$4B.

However, rising fuel costs also concern wholesale of other services besides the traditional regulated industries, therefore, rising Fuel costs concern returns on mostly segments of operations classified as Others. Similarly, as the Cost of natural gas represents the expenses related to the distribution and services related to the fossil fuel, these costs can also be passed on to customers. This cost is thus allocated to the total of both Natural Gas distribution and services revenues. Therefore, Cost of natural gas is forecasted to change its yearly cost from 1,619M in 2021 to \$2,475M in 2023 with a sharp increase. The value is then forecasted to stabilize to \$2,426M in 2033 as natural gas service revenues decrease while gas distribution revenues increase.

Purchased power relates to mostly additional capacity that Southern Company may require to reach its generation needs for both retail electricity and wholesale PPAs due to spontaneous changes in demand, therefore this expense depends on the amount needed as well as \$ per KWH purchased. As Southern Company finishes construction of Plant Units Vogtle 3 and 4, Purchased Power expenses is forecasted to be held constant. The reasoning is that additional capacity from new plants may lead to lesser additional capacity requirements. This \$/KWh will also grow at the rate of Southern's WACC resulting in an opposite effect to the forecasted decreasing capacity. Therefore, this item is forecasted to hold constant after a sharp rise from \$978M to \$1,746M for estimated 2023 values until 2033 onwards. This value is consistent with the above analysis as the Purchased Power expense was mostly stable around \$900M from 2018 to 2021 rising mostly during



2022 as a result of a spike in \$/KWh (due to the high price of natural gas).

Given the importance of PP&E in Southern Company's assets, it is evident that Maintenance and other operational costs also occupy a large portion of operating expenses. These costs are further separated between the electric, gas, and other core businesses segments. Their proportions were held constant to their respective revenues as drivers and varied across the forecasting period, increasing in total from \$6,088M in 2021 to \$7,776M in 2023, up to \$9,871M in 2033. In the same way, Depreciation and Amortization was also forecasted to expand from \$3,565M in 2021 to \$5,152M in 2033 in a yearly 3.79% rate given similar growth rates in PP&E investments throughout the forecasted period. Total Operating expenses are thus forecasted to increase from \$18,311M in 2021 to \$23,549M in 2023, up to \$29,032M in 2033 at an average yearly rate of 2.27%. The EBIT margin is thus set to stabilize from 27.13% in 2022 to 23.72% in 2023, increasing to 25.74% at the steady state.

- Non-core result before taxes is forecasted to remain around \$787M during the Taxes and result forecasted period. This result is mainly the combination of gains on dispositions and other income from investments not related to the core operations. Federal statutory taxes are expected to remain at 21% of EBT for the entirety of the forecasting period. Core adjustments include State income tax and non-deductible book depreciation which should occur with similar values throughout each forecasted year for 6.4% of EBT. Adjustments such as employee stock plans' dividend reduction, AFUDC (Allowance for funds used during construction), Amortization of ITC (Investment Tax Credits) and Noncontrolling interests are assumed to be constant during the forecasted period for a total adjustment amount of -3.8% of total EBT. Flowback of excess deferred income taxes are not considered since they vary depending on years and changes that might not occur; therefore, its effect is not considered in the projected tax adjustments (which has a significant impact in the non-core result after tax as the item represented a -11.7% of EBT reduction in non-core taxes as of 2021) which may lead to underestimation of possible higher results in the next years. Comprehensive Income is forecasted to grow at 5.13% yearly from \$2,382M in 2021 to \$2,576M in 2023, up to \$3,435M in 2033, considering an average of -\$10M in OCI items. Thus, Net margin is set to stabilize around 9.52% in 2033, after initially decreasing from 10.63% in 2021 to 8.78% in 2023.
- **Balance Sheet items** Main core items besides PP&E related to Southern's core operations are Operating Cash, Receivables, Fuels (Fossil fuel for generation and Nuclear fuel), Accounts payable and Customer deposits, and Regulatory items. Operating Cash is projected to be 2% of total revenues with remaining cash amounts classified as Excess of Cash. For a more prudent valuation, Excess of Cash is not forecasted

SOUTHERN COMPANY



to be reinvested for any positive returns. Receivables are allocated to a stable average collection period of 58.36 days. Materials and Supplies, Fossil fuel for generation, and nuclear fuel all depend on fixed percentages in proportion to the total core Cost of Sales maintaining a proportion of 21%. Similarly, Fossil fuel for generation is projected as 7% of Cost of Sales and Nuclear fuel as 12% of Cost of Sales. Accounts payable and Customer deposits were both allocated to a fixed average payable period of 157.75 days. Therefore, Southern Company is expected to maintain a strong Cash conversion cycle of 31 days. Southern Company is forecasted to keep investing 3.0% yoy (average level of investment between 2019 and 2021) in Electric PP&E to be able to maintain similar levels of growth of 2.69%-2.74% in its electric revenues throughout the forecasted period, as increasing generation capacity is the main way in which Southern can increase its turnover.

Capital structure Given the necessity to finance its investment into PP&E to achieve growth in the core result, Southern needs to expand its debt over time. This debt growth is forecasted to be around 3.31%, which is in line with change in debt in previous years (average between 2018 and 2021). In the short run, Southern needs to decrease its payout ratio to 38.22% (average between 2018 and 2021) to keep investing into its PP&E capacity to grow its base rate and revenues in the future. The payout ratio will then expand to 76.13% (average between 2019 and 2021) as Southern converges to its steady state in the forecasted period. This will culminate in a D/E ratio of 1.53 which is similar to its current capital structure (average of 1.54 between 2018 and 2021) while still higher than the computed industry average of 1.25 as of 2021.

Free Cash Flow Given that Free Cash Flow reflects both changes in Invested Capital and Net Result, the final Free Cash Flow can be calculated as sum of the result and the change in invested capital from the previous year to the current year. Both core and non-core parts are summed to reach the final Free Cash Flow. It is worth mentioning that depreciation, although not a cash flow, is included in the net result by design of the valuation framework. Then, net amounts for both tangible fixed assets and intangible assets instead of their gross values are used for the calculation of change in Invested Capital so that depreciation has a net zero effect on Free Cash Flow. Southern Company is forecasted to have a projected negative Core Free Cash Flow of -1.2\$B in 2023 and average 1,234\$M until 2033.

Core Free Cash Flow reaches an average growth of 5.97% converging to a steady state growth rate of 2.66%. Given values from the CAPM analysis, the risk-free rate for the forecasted period of 10 years should be 4.00% (using the 10-year US Treasury Bill as of November 30th, 2022)⁶⁷, a market risk premium of 3.17% (also as of November 30th, 2022)⁶⁸, and a Beta for Southern Company of approximately 0.54 (computed using 10 years of daily data). Following a cost of equity of 5.72%

SOUTHERN COMPANY



and a cost of debt of 3.42% we reach a WACC of 3.90% with a constant D/E ratio of 1.53. With these values it is possible to calculate terminal values necessary for the Enterprise Value.

Valuation With a steady state following the forecasted period of 2033, performing the stated valuation methods according to literature, by 2023 the core value of Southern Company should reach \$81.3B and non-core should reach 55.4\$. The high non-core value is mostly a consequence of tax deductions which are considered recurring non-core post-tax cash flows in the reformulation such as employee stock plans' dividend deductions and AFUDC (Allowance for funds used during construction) of equity. As these tax reductions are significant, they create a high non-core post tax cash flow that does not require any investment into non-core invested capital. This results in increasing Non-core Cash flows which create a large non-core portion for the enterprise value of Southern Company. With the current share price at \$71.21 and 1.089B shares outstanding as of December 13th, 2022, if Southern reaches its target price of \$75.31 (Enterprise Value of \$136,828M) this yields a total return of 5.76% at end 2023.

Scenario Analysis

For the Income Statement, the US population growth rate largely dictates Residential customers for both retail electricity and natural gas distribution, with 0.467% being the estimated 2022 value. Since the estimated average for 2023 onwards is of 0.50%, this value was allocated to the bull case while the base and bear cases are set to 0.467%. Wholesale electricity revenue per KWh is set to increase at the average rate of 3.35% until 2027 and then to converge to 3% as the steady state approaches (as this is the investment rate into electric PP&E, the long-term revenue growth rate should not exceed it). Due to the sharp increase in natural gas prices, revenues spiked from 2020 to 2021 for both Natural Gas segments. Given this, Natural gas distribution revenue per customer averages 4.07% from 2018 to 2022 despite the 24% yoy variation from 2020 to 2021. Natural gas services however show a different behavior, with an average of -7.43% in the same period, while increasing by 24% to 2021. Therefore, considering the relevance of natural gas as a natural gas against Southern's main sources of revenues, and the constant 8% yearly investment rate into these segments' PP&E, it is prudent to assume a lower, but positive growth rate of 4.70% for natural gas distribution revenues. However, Natural gas services have shown decreasing revenues both in revenue per mmBtu sold and in the sale base of mmBtu. Further divestment of approximately -3.88% per year in Storage facilities PP&E related to Natural Gas service revenues mean that this sales base will continue to decrease during the forecasted period at the average of -7.43% per year.



Core FCF are estimated to grow at rates of 2.74% (bear), 2.66% (base), and 2.47% (bull). For a sanity check, it is worth noting that these perpetual growth rates are lower than the US nominal GDP growth estimates of 8.9% in 2022 and 4.1% in 2023⁶⁹ and that Southern's projected growth rates are not higher than both of these values.

For the base scenario, Excess of Cash was considered to not bring any non-core returns to Southern Company. For the bull case, this item is considered to earn returns in the rate of the WACC for cash to not lose value over time to discounting. Since the bull case has a higher WACC than the base case, Excess of Cash is forecasted to earn 3.90% in non-core returns yoy. This item was assigned a null value for both Base and Bear scenarios.

As explained previously, Purchased power expenses were held constant with the assumption that higher \$/KWh values would be compensated with less purchased capacity as Southern increased its generation capacity. However, for the Bear scenario, this item is forecasted to grow at a positive rate throughout the forecasted period even after the initial increase of 178.51% in this item from \$879M in 2021 to \$1,746M in 2022. This item is constant in both Base and Bull scenarios.

Forecasted share price of Southern Company in 2023 ranges between \$59.64 and \$98.33 with an enterprise value interval of \$113,880M to \$152,672M, for the Bear and Bull case, respectively. Though it is unlikely for the share price to reach either limit of this interval.

Sensitivity Analysis

Sensitivity Analysis (Base case)															
					g										
	\$75.31		2.41%		2.66%		2.91%								
U	3.65%	\$	78.38	\$1	107.97	\$	157.57								
AC	3.90%	\$	56.14	\$	75.31	\$	104.17								
5	4.15%	\$	40.30	\$	53.62	\$	72.32								
	Sensitivity Analysis (Bear case)														
					g										
	\$ 59.64		2.22%		2.47%		2.72%								
U.	3.55%	\$	62.34	\$	85.85	\$	123.51								
M	3.80%	\$	43.96	\$	59.64	\$	82.58								
>	4.05%	\$	30.60	\$	41.72	\$	57.02								
	Sensiti	vitv	Analysis	(B	ull case)										

			g	
	\$ 98.33	2.49%	2.74%	2.99%
0	3.58%	\$ 101.96	\$ 143.20	\$ 219.36
AC	3.83%	\$ 73.11	\$ 98.33	\$ 138.55
\$	4.08%	\$ 53.34	\$ 70.20	\$ 94.80
-				

Figure 28: SA with WACC and core g

Firstly, the base case was used to perform a two-variable sensitivity analysis with the core growth rate of Free cash flows and the WACC. Both growth rates and the WACC have similar impacts as the two are close in value. Due to the nature of Terminal Value calculations, as the steady state growth rate of 2.66% is close to the WACC value of 3.90%, even incremental percentual changes have a significant influence in the calculation of the Terminal value perpetuity and in the share price. As the perpetuity uses the difference of the two values as its denominator, the closer this difference is, the lower the denominator will decrease, and the higher the valuation will spike (note that the WACC and the core g become more similar,

the denominator tends to 0, and the entire fraction of the perpetuity will tend to infinity). Thus, considering a 0.25% increase in the growth rate, the share price would increase to 104.17\$ in the Base case, while decreasing the growth rate by the same amount would decrease the share price to 56.14\$. It is worth noting that

in the case of an equal value increase in both rates, the share price would decrease to 72.32\$. This means that decreasing the WACC would increase the value of Southern's share price more than increasing its growth rate. Though this difference



is not large and approaching either rate to the other rate would increase Southern's valuation significantly (as both rates are only around 1% apart already), figure 28.

Looking at the bear case and the bull case, there is a similar behavior of the impact of percentual changes of WACC and core growth rates of FCF on the share price. The impact is similar with WACC having a slightly larger influence on the valuation.

Multiple Valuation

Multiple Valuation analysis is a supplementary methodology to the Discounted Cash Flows analysis and is based on forecasts of the DCF method. The primary difference between both models is that DCF is based on the Southern Company and its long-term prospects, whereas Multiples valuation is centered on the market's view of the energy industry.

The idea behind multiples analysis is to evaluate the different companies within the energy sector and geography and calculate Southern's implied value based on the peers' analyses. Thus, it is assumed that it is possible to rank and value an enterprise within a similar group (Berk and DeMarzo, 1962)⁷⁰. The first step of the method is to identify similar companies to Southern, for this, 10 U.S. energy utility companies were considered. To determine the enterprise value multiple, the metric of Enterprise Value / Earnings Before Interest Taxes, Depreciation and Amortization. Whereas to understand the equity multiple the Price per earning ratio was employed.

Regarding the EV/EBITDA multiple, the median by Southern peers was 13.4x for 2021, with a maximum of 35.5x and a minimum of 2.0x, the 25th and 75th percentile were also calculated at 10.2x and 20.2x respectively. From 2019 to 2021, the median of the multiple has increased from 12.0x to 13.4x, resulting in 11% growth. Interestingly, the EV/EBITDA multiple in another countries other than in the United States is lower at 10.2x for the same period.

Concerning the P/E multiple, the median of the peers was 17.4x, with a maximum and a minimum of 50.8x and -242.8x, respectively for the year of 2021. In this case the 75th percentile was 23.1x and the 25th percentile close to median at 16.8x. Other enterprises across the globe yielded a higher P/E multiple at 19.5x. Nevertheless, this metric was highly volatile for the period and hence the EV/EBITDA was considered a more reliable metric than P/E, disregarding the latter multiple.

In relation to Southern Company and with the aid of the discounted cash flows model, it was forecasted that the EBITDA for the enterprise to be 10,872.89M, and Net Income of \$2,509.51M, for the year 2023.

Furthermore, if multiples are held constant throughout years, it would be expected



that the enterprise value of Southern Company for 2023 to be \$145,294.79M, using an EV/EBITDA multiple of 13.4x. This value would result in a share price for 2023 of \$83.09, yielding a return of 16.68% in one year, compared to the value of \$71.21, on December 13th, 2022.

For the year 2033, the DCF model predicted that EBITDA and Net Income were \$14,912.60M and \$2,741.19M respectively. In addition, if the same EV/EBITDA multiple is utilized, Southern would have a total enterprise value of \$199,828.78M with share price of \$133.16.

Lastly, to conclude the multiples analysis, a bear and bull case were considered. The bear case takes into account the multiple of the 25th percentile of peers instead of the median, whereas the bull case considers the 75th percentile. Both the scenarios were calculated in the same fashion as the previous base scenario, only changing the multiples.

For the bear case the multiple of 10.2x EV/EBITDA was employed, yielding an enterprise value for Southern in 2023 of \$110,354.38M, and a share price of \$51.00. The return for the share price would then be -28.38% for the period of 1 year if the bear case held to be true. In regard to 2033, the bear scenario predicts an increase of share price of 25.03% in the course of 10 years, resulting in a stock price of 89.04 and enterprise value of \$151,774.10M.

On the optimistic side, the multiple is 15.4x, yielding an enterprise value of \$167,442.09M in one year, with a share price of \$103.42, generating a total return of 45.24%. In the meantime, the bull case for 2033 predicts an enterprise price of \$230,288.74M and stock price of 126.28%, resulting in returns of 126.28%.

Recommendation

In terms of trends, Southern has made strides in reducing its carbon emissions while increasing investment into Renewable generation capacity and lower emission generation capacity, such as Nuclear power plants. Considering that the industry is leaning towards reducing its emissions as much as possible by 2030, this evolution by Southern also makes them more appealing to invest in by funds that may give importance to green factors.

More importantly, Southern's Nuclear investments increase medium and long-term cash flows, due to higher plant availability on average (meaning more consistent generation and more consistent energy sales) around 93%, while Fossil-steam plants have an average plant availability factor near 80%. Operational costs are also significantly lower (despite higher initial investments) for Nuclear plants, while fuel – Uranium – is significantly less volatile compared to other prominent fossil fuels such as Natural Gas.



Therefore, considering that recent Nuclear investments and Renewable investments made by Southern increase cash flows, hedge against rising prices of fossil fuels, and increase the appeal of the company to funds, this strategy provides a positive outlook for the evolution of the company in the future.

When it comes to valuating if Southern is worth investing, a multiple valuation was taken into account as a supplementary assessment of the Discounted cash flows model. Therefore, and despite the positive outlook of 16% return for the company, this value must be taken with prudency and the DCF model should consequently overrule the decision to invest in the company, and simply hold, as it explores other key operational factors

It is also worth noting that when accounting for differences in generating capacity, Southern seems to be lagging behind its peers, generating less Revenue per MW of capacity.

In conclusion, considering the nuclear investments of Southern Company as of 2022 and its function as a hedge against rising natural gas prices, this equity research report estimates a share price of \$75.31 according to the Enterprise DCF Model for 5.76% return. Therefore, the final recommendation for Southern Company's stock is "HOLD".



References

- ¹ Our history. (2022). Retrieved October 7, 2022, from <u>https://www.alabamapower.com/company/about-us/our-history.html</u>
- ² Chcom. (2020, November). Southern Company. Retrieved November 7, 2022, from <u>https://www.companieshistory.com/southern-company/</u>
- ³ U.S. Energy Information Administration EIA independent statistics and analysis. (1993, January). Retrieved November 7, 2022, from <u>https://www.eia.gov/electricity/pdfpages/puhca/index.php</u>
- ⁴ (a) About. (n.d.). Retrieved October 10, 2022, from <u>https://www.southerncompany.com/about/our-business/history.html</u>

⁵ "Valuation: Measuring and Managing the Value of Companies," Koller, T. Goedhart, M., and Wessels, D., 5th Edition, 2010, McKinsey & Company Inc., Chapter 7

⁶ (b) Sustainability. (2022). Retrieved October 12, 2022, from <u>https://www.southerncompany.com/sustainability/net-zero-and-environmental-priorities/net-zero-</u> <u>transition.html</u>

⁷ Alves, B. (2022, March 2). *Southern Company Energy Source Generation 2021*. Statista. Retrieved December 14, 2022, from <u>https://www.statista.com/statistics/646624/share-of-energy-supply-of-southern-company-by-source/</u>

- ⁸ The Paris Agreement. (2021). Retrieved October 30, 2022, from <u>https://www.un.org/en/climatechange/paris-agreement</u>
- ⁹ Índice S&P 500: Cotação do spx investing.com. (2020). Retrieved October 20, 2022, from https://pt.investing.com/indices/us-spx-500
- ¹⁰ The Southern Company (SO) stock price, news, Quote & History. (2022, November 07). Retrieved October 13, 2022, from <u>https://finance.yahoo.com/quote/SO/</u>
- ¹¹ Pandemic prices: Assessing inflation in the months and Years Ahead. (2021, November 30). Retrieved October 14, 2022, from <u>https://www.whitehouse.gov/cea/written-materials/2021/04/12/pandemic-prices-assessing-inflation-in-the-months-and-years-ahead/</u>
- ¹² Natural gas futures price. (2022, November 1). Retrieved October 19, 2022, from <u>https://www.investing.com/commodities/natural-gas</u>
- ¹³ Alves, B. (2022, June 21). U.S. electricity generation mix by source 2021. Retrieved October 22, 2022, from <u>https://www.statista.com/statistics/528603/distribution-electricity-net-generation-in-the-us-by-fuel-type/</u>
- ¹⁴ Volcovici, V., Abnett, K., & Green, M. (2020, August 18). Explainer: Cleaner but not clean why scientists say natural gas won't avert climate disaster. Retrieved October 25, 2022, from <u>https://www.reuters.com/article/us-usa-gas-climatebox-explainer-idUSKCN25E1DR</u>



- ¹⁵ (a) Levelized cost of energy (LCOE). (2022, June 22). Retrieved October 3, 2022, from https://corporatefinanceinstitute.com/resources/knowledge/finance/levelized-cost-of-energy-lcoe/
- ¹⁶ Solar lights up outlook for renewable energy in Texas. (2022). Retrieved October 18, 2022, from https://www.dallasfed.org/research/economics/2022/0208
- ¹⁷ Bhutada, G., Venditti, W., & Graphics & Design Miranda Smith. (2022, February 05). Ranked: The top 10 countries by Energy Transition Investment. Retrieved October 4, 2022, from https://www.visualcapitalist.com/ranked-the-top-10-countries-by-energy-transition-investment/
- ¹⁸ Ritchie, H., Roser, M., & Rosado, P. (2022, October 27). Renewable energy. Retrieved November 7, 2022, from <u>https://ourworldindata.org/renewable-energy</u>
- ¹⁹ Renewable energy targets. (2022). Retrieved October 20, 2022, from <u>https://energy.ec.europa.eu/topics/renewable-energy/renewable-energy-directive-targets-and-</u> <u>rules/renewable-energy-targets_en</u>
- ²⁰ Copley, M. (2022, December 5). The U.S. wants to slash carbon emissions from power plants. natural gas is in the way. NPR. Retrieved December 12, 2022, from <u>https://www.npr.org/2022/12/05/1139401121/the-u-s-wants-to-slash-carbon-emissions-from-power-plants-natural-gas-is-in-the-</u>

²¹ U.S. Energy Information Administration. (2022, October 30). Henry Hub Natural Gas Spot Price. Retrieved October 28, 2022, from <u>https://www.eia.gov/dnav/ng/hist/rngwhhdm.htm</u>

²² Duquiatan, A. (2021, March 2). February spot gas values in parts of US grew by 900% month over month. S&P Global Market Intelligence. Retrieved October 30, 2022, from https://www.spglobal.com/marketintelligence/en/news-insights/latest-news-headlines/february-spot-gasvalues-in-parts-of-us-grew-by-900-month-over-month-62948924

²³ King, C.W., Rhodes, J.D., Zarnikau, J. (2021, July). *The Timeline and Events of the February 2021 Texas Electric Grid Blackouts* (pp. 42-46). Retrieved November 5, 2022, from https://www.puc.texas.gov/agency/resources/reports/utaustin (2021) eventsfebruary2021texasblackout (002) jfinal_07_12_21.pdf

²⁴ European Commission. (2022, July 20). Save Gas for a Safe Winter: Commission proposes gas demand reduction plan to prepare EU for supply cuts. Retrieved from October 31, 2022, from <u>https://ec.europa.eu/commission/presscorner/detail/en/ip 22 4608</u>

²⁵ Martínez, B., Torró, H. (2015, February 26) European natural gas seasonal effects on futures hedging. *Forbes.* Retrieved October 25, 2022, from <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eneco.2015.04.002</u>

²⁶ Rapier, R. (2022, September 27) Why Natural Gas Prices Quadrupled In Two Years. *Forbes*. Retrieved from <u>https://www.forbes.com/sites/rrapier/2022/09/27/why-natural-gas-prices-quadrupled-in-twoyears/?sh=2679ba043ccf</u>



²⁷ Domm, P. (2022, May 17). Natural gas prices have already doubled this year. A hot summer could push them even higher. *CNBC*. Retrieved October 25, 2022 from <u>https://www.cnbc.com/2022/05/17/natural-gas-prices-have-already-doubled-this-year-a-hot-summer-could-push-them-even-higher.html</u>

²⁸ European Commission (2020) From where do we import energy? Retrieved November 7, 2022, from <u>https://ec.europa.eu/eurostat/cache/infographs/energy/bloc-2c.html</u>

²⁹ Ellis, D. (2022, September 7). European gas imports from Russia fall to 9%. Gasworld. Retrieved October
 26, 2022 from <u>https://www.gasworld.com/story/european-gas-imports-from-russia-fall-to-</u>
 <u>9/2095171.article/?red=1</u>

³⁰ European Commission. (2022, July 20). Save Gas for a Safe Winter: Commission proposes gas demand reduction plan to prepare EU for supply cuts. Retrieved October 30, 2022, from https://ec.europa.eu/commission/presscorner/detail/en/ip_22_4608

³¹ Satish Kumar, Hyouk-Tae Kwon, Kwang-Ho Choi, Wonsub Lim, Jae Hyun Cho, Kyungjae Tak, Il Moon.
(2011). LNG: An eco-friendly cryogenic fuel for sustainable development. *Applied Energy*. Volume 88, Issue
12, (pp. 4264-4273). Retrieved November 6, 2022, from https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0306261911004247

³² Rapier, R. (2022, September 27) Why Natural Gas Prices Quadrupled In Two Years. *Forbes*. Retrieved from https://www.forbes.com/sites/rrapier/2022/09/27/why-natural-gas-prices-quadrupled-in-two-years/?sh=2679ba043ccf

³³ World Nuclear Association. (2022, July). Uranium Markets. Retrieved October 26, 2022 from <u>https://world-nuclear.org/information-library/nuclear-fuel-cycle/uranium-resources/uranium-markets.aspx</u>

- ³⁴ (a) 5 things you should know about plant vogtle. (2022). Retrieved October 7, 2022, from https://www.energy.gov/ne/articles/5-things-you-should-know-about-plant-vogtle
- ³⁵ AP1000 pressurized water reactor | Westinghouse nuclear. (2022). Retrieved October 12, 2022, from https://www.westinghousenuclear.com/energy-systems/ap1000-pwr
- ³⁶ (b) Nuclear power is the most reliable energy source and it's not even close. (2021, March 24). Retrieved October 26, 2022, from <u>https://www.energy.gov/ne/articles/nuclear-power-most-reliable-energy-source-and-its-not-even-close</u>
- ³⁷ Georgia Power (2022). Retrieved October 2, 2022, from <u>https://www.georgiapower.com/company/about-us.html</u>
- ³⁸ A real plan for real zero. (2022). Retrieved October 7, 2022, from <u>https://www.nexteraenergy.com/</u>
- ³⁹ (a) NextEra Energy Resources: What we do. (2022). Retrieved October 15, 2022, from https://www.nexteraenergyresources.com/what-we-do.html
- ⁴⁰ FirstEnergy Investor relations. NextEra Energy, Inc. (2021, December 31). Retrieved December 10, 2022, from <u>https://www.investor.nexteraenergy.com/</u>



- ⁴¹. NextEra water completes the acquisition of Texas Water and wastewater systems. NextEra Energy Newsroom. (2022, July 13). Retrieved December 10, 2022, from <u>https://newsroom.nexteraenergy.com/2022-07-13-NextEra-Water-completes-the-acquisition-of-Texas-water-and-wastewater-systems</u>
- ⁴² NextEra Energy completes acquisition of Gulf Power from Southern Company. NextEra Energy Newsroom.
 (2019, January 1). Retrieved December 12, 2022, from https://newsroom.nexteraenergy.com/2019-01-
 01-NextEra-Energy-completes-acquisition-of-Gulf-Power-from-Southern-Company
- ⁴³ NextEra Energy to sell equity units. NextEra Energy Newsroom. (2022, September 14). Retrieved December 12, 2022, from <u>https://newsroom.nexteraenergy.com/2022-09-14-NextEra-Energy-to-sell-equity-units</u>
- ⁴⁴ Operating Companies. (2022). Retrieved December 11, 2022, from https://www.aep.com/about/businesses/opcos
- ⁴⁵ United States Securities and Exchange Commission Washington, D.C AEP Form 10-K. (2022). Retrieved December 11, 2022, from <u>https://aep.com/assets/docs/investors/filings/docs/AEP_10K_2021.pdf</u>
- ⁴⁶ News Releases. Releases. (November 17th, 2022) Retrieved December 9, 2022, from https://www.aep.com/news/releases/read/8743/PSO-Files-Proposal-to-Increase-Power-Supply-and-Stabilize-Customer-Bills
- ⁴⁷ <u>AEP to sell Kentucky operations</u> to Liberty, subsidiary of Algonquin Power and Utilities. News Release. (2021, October 6). Retrieved December 9, 2022, from <u>https://aep.com/news/releases/read/7276/AEP-to-Sell-Kentucky-Operations-to-Liberty-Subsidiary-of-Algonquin-Power-and-Utilities</u>
- ⁴⁸ (a) Home: Dominion energy. (2022). Retrieved October 19, 2022, from <u>https://www.dominionenergy.com/</u>

⁴⁹ (b) Dominion Energy agrees to sell West Virginia Natural Gas Distribution Company to Ullico. (2022). Retrieved October 4, 2022, from <u>https://news.dominionenergy.com/2022-02-11-Dominion-Energy-Agrees-to-Sell-West-Virginia-Natural-Gas-Distribution-Company-to-Ullico</u>

- ⁵⁰ United States Securities and Exchange Commission Dominion Form 10-K. (2021). Retrieved December 10, 2022, from <u>https://s2.q4cdn.com/510812146/files/doc_financials/2021/ar/2021-Annual-Report-on-Form-10-K-(ADA).pdf</u>
- ⁵¹ Dominion Energy proposes new solar and energy storage projects for Virginia customers. Dominion Energy MediaRoom. (2022, October 17). Retrieved December 11, 2022, from <u>https://news.dominionenergy.com/2022-10-17-Dominion-Energy-Proposes-New-Solar-and-Energy-Storage-Projects-for-Virginia-Customers</u>
- ⁵² Navy veteran brings education, experience to Dominion Energy. Dominion Energy MediaRoom. (2022). Retrieved December 13, 2022, from <u>https://news.dominionenergy.com/navy-veteran</u>



⁵³ Exelon Corp company profile - Exelon Corp overview. (2022) Retrieved December 13, 2022, from <u>https://www.exeloncorp.com/company/about-exelon</u>

- ⁵⁴ Investor relations. Exelon Corporation. (2022, November 3). Retrieved December 8, 2022, from <u>https://investors.exeloncorp.com/</u>
- ⁵⁵ Exelon releases 2021 CSR highlighting the company's responsible stewardship of the clean energy transition, while delivering sustainable value. Exelon Corporation. (2022, July 28). Retrieved December 12, 2022, from <u>https://www.exeloncorp.com/newsroom/exelon-releases-2021-corporate-sustainability-report-highlighting-the-company%E2%80%99s-responsible-stewardship-of-the-clean-energy</u>
- ⁵⁶ Exelon Investor relations. Exelon Corporation. (2022, November 3). Retrieved December 12, 2022, from https://investors.exeloncorp.com/
- ⁵⁷ Our commitment. (2022). Retrieved October 25, 2022, from <u>https://firstenergycorp.com/fehome.html</u>
- ⁵⁸ United Nations. (2022). *Net zero coalition*. United Nations. Retrieved December 10, 2022, from <u>https://www.un.org/en/climatechange/net-zero-coalition</u>
- ⁵⁹ Firstenergy charged federally, agrees to terms of deferred prosecution settlement. The United States Department of Justice. (2021, July 22). Retrieved December 11, 2022, from <u>https://www.justice.gov/usao-sdoh/pr/firstenergy-charged-federally-agrees-terms-deferred-prosecution-settlement</u>

⁶⁰ Economics of Nuclear Power. (2022, August 1). Retrieved December 13th from <u>https://world-nuclear.org/information-library/economic-aspects/economics-of-nuclear-power.aspx</u>

⁶¹ OECD. (2022). Inflation (CPI). Retrieved October 25, 2022, from <u>https://data.oecd.org/price/inflation-cpi.htm</u>

⁶² Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System. (2022, September 21). Decisions Regarding MonetaryPolicyImplementation.RetrievedNovember1,2022,fromhttps://www.federalreserve.gov/newsevents/pressreleases/monetary20220921a1.htm

⁶³ Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System. (2022, September 21). Federal Reserve issues FOMC statement. Retrieved November 2, 2022, from https://www.federalreserve.gov/newsevents/pressreleases/monetary20220921a.htm

⁶⁴ Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System. (2022, November 2). Decisions Regarding MonetaryPolicyImplementation.RetrievedNovember6,2022,fromhttps://www.federalreserve.gov/newsevents/pressreleases/monetary20221102a1.htm

⁶⁵ FitchRatings. (2022). The Southern Company. Retrieved October 30, 2022, from <u>https://www.fitchratings.com/entity/the-southern-company-80464266</u>

⁶⁶ Department of Economic and Social Affairs, Population Division, United Nations. (2022, November 1). Annual rate of population change. Retrieved November 6, 2022, from https://population.un.org/wpp/Graphs/DemographicProfiles/Line/900



⁶⁷ U.S. Dep	artment of Trea	asury. (2022, N	November 1 st). Daily Treasury Long-Term Rates. Retrieved November
5,	2022,	from	https://home.treasury.gov/resource-center/data-chart-center/interest-
rates/Text\	/iew?type=daily	_treasury_lon	g_term_rate&field_tdr_date_value=2022

68

Technical University of Munich. (2022, November 30th). Data Library: Global Factor Premia. Retrieved December 5, 2022, from <u>https://www.fa.mgt.tum.de/fm/research/data/</u>

⁶⁹ OECD. (2022). Nominal GDP forecast. Retrieved November 9, 2022, from <u>https://data.oecd.org/gdp/nominal-gdp-forecast.htm</u>

⁷⁰ Berk, J., DeMarzo, P. (1962). Corporate Finance (3rd ed., pp. 288-292). Boston, USA: Pearson



Appendix

Financial Statements

Appendix 1 – Income Statement

Forecasted Income Statement (in million \$)		2020		2021		2022E		2023P		2024P		2025P		2026P		2027P	- 1	2028P	20	029P	2	2030P	2	031P	2	032P	2	033P
Core Operations																				Cor		ning towar	de 6	Stoody St	ato			
Residential	s	6 113	\$	6 207	\$	8 123	s	8 389	\$	8 664	\$	8 948	s	9 241	\$	9 544	\$	9 857	\$	10 180	\$	10 514	\$	10 859	s \$	11 215	\$	11 582
Commercial	s	4 699	ŝ	4 877	ŝ	6 382	s	6 516	ŝ	6 653	ŝ	6 792	s	6 935	ŝ	7 080	s	7 229	\$	7 380	s	7 535	ŝ	7 693	s	7 855	ŝ	8 0 1 9
Industrial	\$	2 775	\$	3.067	\$	4 014	\$	4 105	ŝ	4 198	\$	4 294	\$	4 392	ŝ	4 491	ŝ	4 594	\$	4 698	\$	4 805	ŝ	4 914	\$	5.026	ŝ	5 140
Other	ŝ	90	ŝ	93	Š	122	s	132	ŝ	142	ŝ	154	ŝ	167	ŝ	180	ŝ	195	ŝ	211	ŝ	228	ŝ	247	ŝ	267	ŝ	289
Total Retail electric revenues	ŝ	13.677	ŝ	14.244	ŝ	18.641	\$	19,142	ŝ	19.658	ŝ	20,188	ŝ	20,734	ŝ	21.296	ŝ	21.875	ŝ	22.470	ŝ	23.082	ŝ	23.713	ŝ	24.362	ŝ	25.030
Total Wholesale electric revenues	\$	1,399	\$	1,851	\$	3,763	\$	3,898	\$	4,038	\$	4,183	\$	4,334	\$	4,490	\$	4,635	\$	4,786	\$	4,941	\$	5,102	\$	5,267	\$	5,438
Total Natural gas distribution revenues	\$	2,888	\$	3,625	\$	3,418	\$	3,579	\$	3,747	\$	3,923	\$	4,107	\$	4,300	\$	4,502	\$	4,713	\$	4,934	\$	5,166	\$	5,409	\$	5,663
Total Natural gas services revenues	\$	2,151	\$	2,668	\$	2,516	\$	2,810	\$	2,602	\$	2,408	\$	2,229	\$	2,064	\$	1,911	\$	1,769	\$	1,637	\$	1,516	\$	1,403	\$	1,299
Other core sources of revenue:	\$	260	\$	725	\$	1,474	\$	481	\$	520	\$	531	\$	543	\$	556	\$	569	\$	583	\$	598	\$	460	\$	472	\$	485
Total core operating revenues	\$	20,375	\$	23,113	\$	29,811	\$	29,910	\$	30,564	\$	31,234	\$	31,947	\$	32,705	\$	33,491	\$	34,320	\$	35,193	\$	35,955	\$	36,912	\$	37,914
Operating Expenses:																												
Fuel	\$	2,967	\$	4,010	\$	7,158	\$	7,336	\$	7,504	\$	7,683	\$	7,863	\$	8,048	\$	8,238	\$	8,432	\$	8,630	\$	8,833	\$	9,041	\$	9,254
Purchased power	\$	799	\$	978	\$	1,746	\$	1,746	\$	1,746	\$	1,746	\$	1,746	\$	1,746	\$	1,746	\$	1,746	\$	1,746	\$	1,746	\$	1,746	\$	1,746
Cost of natural gas	\$	972	\$	1,619	\$	3,219	\$	2,475	\$	2,213	\$	2,207	\$	2,209	\$	2,218	\$	2,235	\$	2,259	\$	2,291	\$	2,329	\$	2,374	\$	2,426
Cost of other sales	\$	327	\$	357	\$	385	\$	379	\$	403	\$	413	\$	423	\$	434	\$	445	\$	456	\$	468	\$	432	\$	444	\$	456
Other operations and maintenance	\$	5,413	\$	6,088	\$	6,612	\$	7,776	\$	7,953	\$	8,131	\$	8,319	\$	8,519	\$	8,726	\$	8,944	\$	9,173	\$	9,359	\$	9,609	\$	9,871
Depreciation and amortization	\$	3,518	\$	3,565	\$	3,632	\$	3,747	\$	3,867	\$	3,991	\$	4,119	\$	4,252	\$	4,390	\$	4,532	\$	4,679	\$	4,831	\$	4,989	\$	5,152
Impairment charges	\$	-	\$	2	\$	-	\$	89	\$	92	\$	96	\$	99	\$	103	\$	106	\$	110	\$	114	\$	119	\$	124	\$	128
Estimated loss on Plant Vogtle Units 3 and 4	\$	325	\$	1,692	\$	-65	S	-	\$	-	\$	-	\$	-	\$	-	\$	-	\$	-	S	-	\$	-	S	-	\$	-
Total core operating expenses	\$	14,321	\$	18,311	\$	22,686	\$	23,549	\$	23,778	\$	24,266	\$	24,778	\$	25,321	\$	25,886	\$	26,480	\$	27,102	\$	27,649	\$	28,327	\$	29,032
Non-core operations																												
Non-core result before taxes	<u>s</u>	497	<u>\$</u>	901	\$	962	5	734	<u>\$</u>	707	<u>\$</u>	727	<u>s</u>	718	5	765	<u>\$</u>	774	<u>\$</u>	793	<u>s</u>	812	<u>\$</u>	835	<u>s</u>	855	<u>s</u>	879
Statutory taxes	S	104	\$	189	\$	202	S	154	\$	149	<u>\$</u>	153	S	151	\$	161	\$	163	\$	167	S	170	\$	175	S	180	\$	185
Tax adjustments	\$	-465	\$	-438	\$	-1,181	\$	-242	\$	-258	\$	-265	\$	-272	\$	-281	\$	-289	\$	-298	\$	-307	\$	-316	\$	-326	\$	-338
in % of core EBT		-13.30%		-17.00%		-3.80%		-3.80%		-3.80%		-3.80%		-3.80%		-3.80%		-3.80%		-3.80%		-3.80%		-3.80%		-3.80%		-3.80%
Items of OCI	5	-91.00	\$	74.00	\$	-8	\$	-34	\$	-15	\$	4	\$	-13	\$	-14	\$	-9	\$	-8	\$	-11	\$	-11	\$	-10	\$	-10
Non-core result	\$	767	\$	1,224	\$	1,934	\$	787	\$	802	\$	843	\$	827	\$	870	\$	891	\$	916	\$	937	\$	964	\$	992	\$	1,022
F inana ina amandiana																												
Financing operations																												
Interest expense, net of amounts capitalized	s	-1 821 00	\$.	1 837 00		-2052 97		-2182 74		-2252.86		-2325.30		-2400 15		-2477 47		-2557.36	2	630 00		2725 17	-	2813 27	-	2004 20	-	2008 32
in % of net debt		3.66%		3 30%		3.65%		3.65%		3.65%		3.65%		3.65%		3.65%		3.65%		3.65%		3.65%		3.65%		3 65%		3.65%
Statutory taxes	s	-382 41	\$	-385 77	\$	-431	s	-458	\$	-473	s	-488	s	-504	\$	-520	s	-537	\$	-554	s	-572	\$	-501	s	-610	s	-630
Financial result	s	-1.439	s	-1.451	ŝ	-1.622	s	-1.724	ŝ	-1.780	ŝ	-1.837	ŝ	-1.896	ŝ	-1.957	ŝ	-2.020	ŝ	-2.086	ŝ	-2.153	ŝ	-2.222	ŝ	-2.294	ŝ	-2.369
	-	.,400	-	.,401	Ľ	.,022	-	1,164	-	.,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,	•	.,001	•	.,000	*	.,	-	2,020	*	2,000	-	2,700	*			2,204	•	2,000
EBT	\$	4,730	\$	3,866	\$	6,035	\$	4,913	\$	5,240	\$	5,369	\$	5,487	\$	5,672	\$	5,822	\$	5,994	\$	6,178	\$	6,328	\$	6,537	\$	6,763
comprenensive income	\$	3,013	\$	2,382	\$	4,242	\$	2,591	\$	2,797	\$	2,882	\$	2,923	\$	3,022 ;	\$	3,104	\$	3,196	\$	3,290	\$	3,367	\$	3,480	\$	3,601

Appendix 2 – Balance Sheet

Forecasted Balance Sheet (in million \$)		2017	20	018	2019	2020	2021	2022E	2023P	2	2024P	2025P	2026P	2027P	2028P	2029P	2030P	2031P	2032P	2033P
Operating Cash	S	461.26	S	469.90 \$	428.38 \$	407.50	§ 462.26	\$ 596.23	\$ 598.20	\$	611.28 \$	624.67 \$	638.95 \$	654.11	669.82 \$	\$ 686.41 \$	703.86 \$	719.11	738.25	5 758.29
Receivables:	\$	3,441.00	S 3	3,258.00 \$	2,981.00 \$	2,819.00	\$ 2,962.00	\$ 4,766.93	\$ 4,782.71	s	4,887.24 \$	4,994.36 \$	5,108.50 \$	5,229.67	5,355.34 \$	\$ 5,487.92 \$	5,627.46	5,749.38	5,902.41 \$	6,062.63
Total PP&E	s	103.542.00	\$ 103	3,706.00 \$	105,114.00 S	110,516.00	5 115,592.00	\$ 119,267,49	\$ 123,071,21	S 1	27.007.55 S	131.081.10 \$	135,296,63 \$	139,659.07	5 144,173,56 \$	5 148.845.44 S	153,680,26 \$	158,683,77	163,861,95 \$	169.221.03
Less: Accumulated depreciation (Total)	S	31,457.00	\$ 31	1,038.00 \$	30,765.00 S	32,397.00	\$ 34,079.00	\$ 35,392.49	\$ 36,521,24	1 5	37,689.34 \$	38,898,17 \$	40,149,12 \$	41,443.67	42,783.34	\$ 44,169,71 \$	45,604,44	47,089.22	48,625.84	50,216,14
Plant in service, net of depreciation	\$	72,085.00	\$ 72	2,668.00 \$	74,349.00 \$	78,119.00	\$ 81,513.00	\$ 83,875.00	\$ 86,549.97	\$ 1	89,318.21 \$	92,182.94 \$	95,147.51 \$	98,215.40	\$ 101,390.22 \$	\$ 104,675.73 \$	108,075.82	111,594.54	115,236.11	119,004.88
Regulatory assets - asset retirement obligations	s	-4,824.00	S -6	6,461.00 \$	-5,405.00 \$	-5,536.00	-6,002.00	\$ -6,257.43	\$ -6,456.99	9 S	-6,663.52 \$	-6,877.24 \$	-7,098.41 \$	-7,327.28	-7,564.14 \$	5 -7,809.25 \$	-8,062.91	-8,325.43	-8,597.10	-8,878.27
Other regulatory assets/liabilities	s	2,468.00	S 1	1,515.00 \$	2,171.00 \$	2,045.00	5 2,132.00	\$ 2,291.04	\$ 2,364.11	s	2,439.72 \$	2,517.97 \$	2,598.95 \$	2,682.75	2,769.47 \$	5 2,859.21 \$	2,952.09	3,048.20	3,147.67	3,250.61
Other cost of removal obligations (includes Accrued environmental	S	-2,684.00	S -2	2,297.00 \$	-2,239.00 \$	-2,211.00	5 -2,103.00	\$ -2,565.95	\$ -2,647.78	3 S	-2,732.47 \$	-2,820.11 \$	-2,910.80 \$	-3,004.66	5 -3,101.78 \$	5 -3,202.29 \$	-3,306.31	-3,413.96	-3,525.36	-3,640.66
Prepaid expenses	S	452.00	S	432.00 \$	314.00 \$	276.00	\$ 330.00	\$ 360.80	\$ 360.80) <u>s</u>	360.80 \$	360.80 \$	360.80 \$	360.80	360.80 \$	\$ 360.80 \$	360.80	360.80	360.80	360.80
Other current assets	\$	-340.00	S	-419.00 \$	182.00 \$	202.00	5 72.00	\$ -54.04	\$ -54.22	2 \$	-55.40 \$	-56.62 \$	-57.91 \$	-59.28	-60.71 \$	5 -62.21 \$	-63.79	-65.18	-66.91 \$	-68.73
Assets held for sale/Assets held for sale deferred	\$	12.00	\$ 5	5,743.00 \$	638.00 \$	60.00	\$ 42.00	S -	S -	s	- \$	- 5	- \$	- 1	5 - 5	5 - S				5 -
Liabilities held for sale	S		S	-425.00 \$	-5.00 \$		5 -	S -	S -	s	- S	- S	- S		s - s	5 - S				s -
Construction work in progress	S	6,904.00	S 7	7,254.00 \$	7,880.00 \$	8,697.00	5 8,771.00	\$ 8,734.33	\$ 9,012.89	9 S	9,301.16 \$	9,599.48 \$	9,908.20 \$	10,227.67	5 10,558.28 \$	5 10,900.42 S	11,254.49	11,620.91	12,000.12	5 12,392.59
Nuclear decommissioning trusts, at fair value	S	1,832.00	S 1	1,721.00 \$	2,036.00 \$	2,303.00	5 2,542.00	\$ 2,276.48	\$ 2,344.85	5 \$	2,415.28 \$	2,487.83 \$	2,562.55 \$	2,639.52	5 2,718.80 \$	\$ 2,800.46 \$	2,884.58	2,971.22	3,060.46 \$	3,152.39
Leveraged leases	\$	775.00	S	798.00 \$	788.00 \$	556.00	5 -	\$ 725.70	\$ 728.10) <u>\$</u>	744.01 \$	760.32 \$	777.69 \$	796.14	815.27 \$	\$ 835.46 \$	856.70	875.26	898.56	922.95
Operating lease right-of-use assets/obligations, net of amortization	\$	-	S	- \$	-44.00 \$	-50.00	52.00	\$ -50.09	\$ -50.25	5 \$	-51.35 \$	-52.48 \$	-53.68 \$	-54.95	-56.27 \$	\$ -57.66 \$	-59.13	-60.41	-62.02 \$	-63.70
Goodwill	S	6,268.00	S 5	5,315.00 \$	5,280.00 \$	5,280.00	5,280.00	\$ 5,280.00	\$ 5,280.00) S	5,280.00 \$	5,280.00 \$	5,280.00 \$	5,280.00	5 5,280.00 \$	5 5,280.00 S	5,280.00 \$	5,280.00	5,280.00 \$	5,280.00
Other intangible assets, net of amortization of \$307 and \$328, respectively	S	873.00	S	613.00 \$	536.00 S	487.00	5 445.00	\$ 699.18	\$ 701.49	9 S	716.83 \$	732.54 \$	749.28 \$	767.05	5 785.48 \$	5 804.93 S	825.40 \$	843.28	865.72 \$	\$ 889.22
Miscellaneous property and investments	S	249.00	S	269.00 \$	391.00 \$	398.00	653.00	\$ 575.04	\$ 576.94	1 S	589.56 \$	602.48 \$	616.25 \$	630.86	646.02 \$	\$ 662.02 \$	678.85	693.56	712.02	5 731.34
Deferred/Accrued charges related to income taxes; Accumulated deferred																				
income taxes; Deferred credits related to income taxes	\$	-13,273.00	\$ -12	2,245.00 \$	-13,168.00 \$	-13,276.00	5 -13,489.00	\$ -16,997.85	\$ -13,838.14	1 S -	14,760.10 \$	-15,124.52 \$	-15,456.69 \$	-15,976.31	-16,399.94 \$	5 -16,883.20 \$	-17,401.72	-17,825.62	-18,412.73	-19,048.56
Unamortized loss on reacquired debt	S	206.00	S	323.00 \$	300.00 \$	280.00	\$ 258.00	\$ 521.20	\$ 497.35	5 \$	494.44 \$	502.06 \$	510.04 S	518.62	5 527.67 5	5 537.25 S	547.32 \$	555.87 \$	566.92 \$	5 578.47
Energy marketing	\$	61.00	S	-55.00 \$	-14.00 \$	22.00	5 -	\$ -11.29	\$ -11.29	9 S	-11.29 \$	-11.29 \$	-11.29 \$	-11.29	5 -11.29 \$	5 -11.29 \$	-11.29	-11.29	-11.29	5 -11.29
Natural gas for sale	S	595.00	S	524.00 \$	479.00 \$	460.00	5 362.00	\$ 455.88	\$ 455.88	3 S	455.88 \$	455.88 \$	455.88 \$	455.88	5 455.88 \$	\$ 455.88 \$	455.88 \$	455.88	455.88 \$	455.88
Natural gas cost under recovery	\$	-	S	- \$	- \$		\$ 266.00	\$ 267.73	\$ 267.73	3 S	267.73 \$	267.73 \$	267.73 \$	267.73	5 267.73 S	\$ 267.73 \$	267.73	267.73	267.73	\$ 267.73
Other current liabilities/Other deferred charges and assets/Other deferred																				
credits and liabilities	\$	693.00	S -2	2,096.00 \$	-359.00 \$	-299.00	\$ 284.00	\$ -355.40	\$ -355.40	\$	-355.40 \$	-355.40 \$	-355.40 \$	-355.40	-355.40 \$	\$ -355.40 \$	-355.40	-355.40	-355.40	-355.40
Total Core Invested Capital	\$	76,097.26	\$ 76	6,547.90 \$	77,668.38 \$	81,086.50	\$ 84,897.26	\$ 84,702.33	\$ 90,695.52	2 \$ 1	92,843.58 \$	95,656.07 \$	98,616.22 \$	101,508.00	5 104,614.75 \$	\$ 107,788.45 \$	111,057.64	114,518.61	117,992.85	121,562.64
Total Non-Core Invested Capital	\$	-633.00	\$	-823.00 \$	151.00 \$	483.00	\$ 584.00	\$ 739.07	\$ 906.51	\$	967.48 \$	1,056.19 \$	1,149.59 \$	1,237.96	1,333.85	\$ 1,430.61 \$	1,529.44	1,634.23	1,737.56	\$ 1,842.72
Net Debt and Other Claims																				
Excess Cash	\$	1,668.74	S	926.10 \$	1,546.62 \$	657.50	5 1,335.74	\$ 5,794.37	\$ 3,092.04	4 S	4,530.23 \$	5,392.70 \$	6,193.80 \$	7,197.10	6,922.53	\$ 6,674.54 \$	6,426.42	6,076.34	5,821.19	5,580.24
Other Financial Liabilities (Negative Financial Debt)	\$	-	S	- \$	- \$		5 -	s -	s -	s	- \$	- \$	- \$		5 - 5	s - s	- 4			5 -
Securities due within one year	\$	-3,892.00	S -3	3,198.00 \$	-2,989.00 \$	-3,507.00	-2,157.00	\$ -2,228.50	\$ -2,302.37	s	-2,378.70 \$	-2,457.55 \$	-2,539.01 \$	-2,623.18	5 -2,710.13 \$	\$ -2,799.97 \$	-2,892.79	-2,988.68	-3,087.75	-3,190.10
Notes payable	S	-2,439.00	S -2	2,915.00 \$	-2,055.00 \$	-609.00	5 -1,440.00	\$ -1,487.73	\$ -1,537.05	5 \$	-1,588.00 \$	-1,640.64 \$	-1,695.03 \$	-1,751.22	5 -1,809.27 S	5 -1,869.24 \$	-1,931.21	-1,995.22	-2,061.36	-2,129.69
Accrued interest	S	-488.00	s	-472.00 \$	-474.00 S	-513.00	-533.00	\$ -550.67	\$ -568.92	2 \$	-587.78 \$	-607.27 \$	-627.40 \$	-648.19	-669.68 \$	5 -691.88 \$	-714.81 \$	-738.51	-762.99	-788.28
Long-term debt	\$	-44,462.00	\$ -40	0,736.00 \$	-41,798.00 \$	-45,073.00	5 -50,120.00	\$ -51,781.42	\$ -53,497.91	\$ -	55,271.31 \$	-57,103.49 \$	-58,996.40 \$	-60,952.06	62,972.55	\$ -65,060.02 \$	-67,216.68	-69,444.84	-71,746.85	-74,125.18
Net Debt and Other Claims	\$	-49,612.26	\$ -46	6,394.90 \$	-45,769.38 \$	-49,044.50	-52,914.26	\$ -50,253.96	\$ -54,814.22	2 \$ -	55,295.56 \$	-56,416.24 \$	-57,664.03 \$	-58,777.55	61,239.10	\$ -63,746.57 \$	-66,329.07	-69,090.91	-71,837.77	-74,653.02
Equity	\$	25,852.00	\$ 29	9,330.00 \$	32,050.00 \$	32,525.00	32,567.00	\$ 35,187.45	\$ 36,787.81	\$	38.515.50 \$	40,296.02 \$	42.101.78 \$	43,968.40	44,709.50 \$	\$ 45,472.49 \$	46,258.01	47,061.93	47,892.65	\$ 48,752.34



Appendix 3 - Free Cash Flow Map

Process (swi)																	
Year	2018	2019	202	0	2021	2022E	2023P	2024P	2025P	2026P	2027P	2028P	2029P	2030P	2031P	2032P	2033P
Total Revenues	\$ 23,495.00	\$ 21,817	.00 \$ 20,3	75.00 \$	\$ 23,113.00	\$ 29,811.39	\$ 29,910.06	\$ 30,563.80	\$ 31,233.68	\$ 31,947.49	\$ 32,705.26	\$ 33,491.16	\$ 34,320.29 \$	35,192.96	\$ 35,955.41	\$ 36,912.44	\$ 37,914.42
Total Costs	\$ -18,699.00	\$ -15,022	.00 \$ -14,3	21.00 \$	\$ -18,311.00	\$ -22,686.30	\$ -23,548.58	\$ -23,778.20	\$ -24,265.94	\$ -24,778.21	\$ -25,320.51	\$ -25,885.72	\$ -26,479.58	5 -27,101.61	\$ -27,648.69	\$ -28,326.81	\$ -29,032.36
Total Core Taxes	\$ -2,205.47	\$ -2,655	25 \$ -2,3	68.56	\$ -2,192.38	\$ -3,195.58	\$ -2,833.86	\$ -3,011.16	\$ -3,092.09	\$ -3,176.95	\$ -3,276.23	\$ -3,372.11	\$ -3,475.63	-3,585.72	\$ -3,681.41	\$ -3,803.87	\$ -3,934.24
Core Result	\$ 2,590.53	\$ 4,139	.75 \$ 3,6	85.44 \$	\$ 2,609.62	\$ 3,929.51	\$ 3,527.63	\$ 3,774.44	\$ 3,875.64	\$ 3,992.33	\$ 4,108.51	\$ 4,233.33	\$ 4,365.07 \$	4,505.63	\$ 4,625.31	\$ 4,781.76	\$ 4,947.81
Operational Cash Flow (= Core Result + Depreciation and Amortization)	\$ 6,140.53	\$ 7,177	.75 \$ 7,2	03.44 \$	\$ 6,174.62	\$ 7,561.09	\$ 7,275.00	\$ 7,641.62	\$ 7,866.81	\$ 8,111.80	\$ 8,360.74	\$ 8,622.94	\$ 8,896.85 \$	9,184.52	\$ 9,456.43	\$ 9,770.43	\$ 10,099.51
Core Invested Capital	\$ 76,547.90	\$ 77,668	.38 \$ 81,0	86.50 \$	\$ 84,897.26	\$ 84,702.33	\$ 90,695.52	\$ 92,843.58	\$ 95,656.07	\$ 98,616.22	\$ 101,508.00	\$ 104,614.75	\$ 107,788.45	\$ 111,057.64	\$ 114,518.61	\$ 117,992.85	\$ 121,562.64
Change in Core Invested Capital			\$ 3,4	18.12 \$	\$ 3,810.76	\$ -194.93	\$ 5,993.19	\$ 2,148.06	\$ 2,812.49	\$ 2,960.15	\$ 2,891.77	\$ 3,106.75	\$ 3,173.70 \$	3,269.19	\$ 3,460.97	\$ 3,474.24	\$ 3,569.79
Financial Cash Flow (= Change in Core IC + Depreciation or Amortization)			\$ 6,9	36.12 \$	\$ 7,375.76	\$ 3,436.66	\$ 9,740.55	\$ 6,015.24	\$ 6,803.66	\$ 7,079.62	\$ 7,144.00	\$ 7,496.36	\$ 7,705.48 \$	7,948.07	\$ 8,292.09	\$ 8,462.91	\$ 8,721.49
Core Free Cash Flow (= Core Result • Change in Core IC)			\$ 2	67.32 \$	\$ -1,201.14	\$ 4,124.43	\$ -2,465.56	\$ 1,626.38	\$ 1,063.15	\$ 1,032.18	\$ 1,216.74	\$ 1,126.58	\$ 1,191.37 \$	1,236.44	\$ 1,164.34	\$ 1,307.52	\$ 1,378.02
Non-Core Result	\$ 846.57	\$ 2,259	.64 \$ 7	66.60 \$	\$ 1,223.71	\$ 1,934.09	\$ 787.25	\$ 801.95	\$ 843.49	\$ 826.80	\$ 870.20	\$ 891.15	\$ 916.28 \$	§ 937.46	\$ 964.43	\$ 992.16	\$ 1,021.75
Non-Core Invested Capital	\$ -823.00	\$ 151.	.00 \$ 4	83.00 \$	\$ 584.00	\$ 739.07	\$ 906.51	\$ 967.48	\$ 1,056.19	\$ 1,149.59	\$ 1,237.96	\$ 1,333.85	\$ 1,430.61 \$	1,529.44	\$ 1,634.23	\$ 1,737.56	\$ 1,842.72
Change in Non-Core Invested Capital			S 3	32.00 \$	\$ 101.00	\$ 155.07	\$ 167.44	\$ 60.97	\$ 88.71	\$ 93.40	\$ 88.36	\$ 95.89	\$ 96.76 \$	98.83	\$ 104.79	\$ 103.34	\$ 105.16
Non-core Free Cash Fow (=NC Result - Change in NC IC)			\$ 4	34.60 \$	\$ 1,122.71	\$ 1,779.02	\$ 619.82	\$ 740.98	\$ 754.78	\$ 733.39	\$ 781.84	\$ 795.25	\$ 819.52 \$	838.63	\$ 859.64	\$ 888.82	\$ 916.59
Free Cash Flow			\$ 7	01.92	s -78.43	\$ 5,903.45	\$ -1,845.74	\$ 2,367.36	\$ 1,817.93	\$ 1,765.58	\$ 1,998.58	\$ 1,921.83	\$ 2,010.89 \$	2,075.08	\$ 2,023.99	\$ 2,196.34	\$ 2,294.61
Interest expense, net of amounts capitalized	\$ -1,842.00	\$ -1,736.	.00 \$ -1,8	21.00 \$	\$ -1,837.00	\$ -2,052.97	\$ -2,182.74	\$ -2,252.86	\$ -2,325.30	\$ -2,400.15	\$ -2,477.47	\$ -2,557.36	\$ -2,639.90	-2,725.17	\$ -2,813.27	\$ -2,904.29	\$ -2,998.32
Total Financial Taxes	\$ 386.82	\$ 364	56 \$ 3	82.41 \$	\$ 385.77	\$ 431.12	\$ 458.38	\$ 473.10	\$ 488.31	\$ 504.03	\$ 520.27	\$ 537.05	\$ 554.38 \$	572.29	\$ 590.79	\$ 609.90	\$ 629.65
Financial Result	\$ -1,455.18	\$ -1,371.	.44 \$ -1.4	38.59	\$ -1,451.23	\$ -1,621.85	\$ -1,724.37	\$ -1,779.76	\$ -1,836.99	\$ -1,896.12	\$ -1,957.20	\$ -2,020.31	\$ -2,085.52	5 -2,152.88	\$ -2,222.48	\$ -2,294.39	\$ -2,368.67
Net Debt and other claims	\$ -46,394.90	\$ -45,769	.38 \$ -49,0	44.50 \$	\$ -52,914.26	\$ -50,253.96	\$ -54,814.22	\$ -55,295.56	\$ -56,416.24	\$ -57,664.03	\$ -58,777.55	\$ -61,239.10	\$ -63,746.57	66,329.07	\$ -69,090.91	\$ -71,837.77	\$ -74,653.02
Change in Net Debt		\$ 625	52 \$ -3,2	75.12 \$	\$ -3,869.76	\$ 2,660.30	\$ -4,560.26	\$ -481.34	\$ -1,120.69	\$ -1,247.79	\$ -1,113.52	\$ -2,461.55	\$ -2,507.47	-2,582.49	\$ -2,761.84	\$ -2,746.86	\$ -2,815.26
Equity	\$ 29,330.00	\$ 32,050	.00 \$ 32,5	25.00	\$ 32,567.00	\$ 35,187.45	\$ 36,787.81	\$ 38,515.50	\$ 40,296.02	\$ 42,101.78	\$ 43,968.40	\$ 44,709.50	\$ 45,472.49 \$	46,258.01	\$ 47,061.93	\$ 47,892.65	\$ 48,752.34
Change in Equity		\$ 2,720	.00 \$ 4	75.00 \$	\$ 42.00	\$ 2,620.45	\$ 1,600.36	\$ 1,727.69	\$ 1,780.52	\$ 1,805.77	\$ 1,866.62	\$ 741.10	\$ 762.99 \$	785.52	\$ 803.92	\$ 830.72	\$ 859.69
Comprehensive Income	\$ 1,981.91	\$ 5,027	.95 \$ 3,0	13.45 \$	\$ 2,382.10	\$ 4,241.75	\$ 2,590.51	\$ 2,796.62	\$ 2,882.14	\$ 2,923.01	\$ 3,021.51	\$ 3,104.16	\$ 3,195.83 \$	3,290.21	\$ 3,367.26	\$ 3,479.54	\$ 3,600.88
Financial FCF			\$ -7	01.92	\$ 78.43	\$ -5,903.45	\$ 1,845.74	\$ -2,367.36	\$ -1,817.93	\$ -1,765.58	\$ -1,998.58	\$ -1,921.83	\$ -2,010.89 \$	-2,075.08	\$ -2,023.99	\$ -2,196.34	\$ -2,294.61
Core DCF				ŝ	\$ -1,201.14	\$ 3,969.77	\$ -2,284.12	\$ 1,450.20	\$ 912.43	\$ 852.64	\$ 967.40	\$ 862.13	\$ 877.53	876.58	\$ 794.51	\$ 858.75	\$ 871.12
10-year Treasury Bill (November 30th)	4.009	2															
Market return (10y MRP + Rf)	7,179	6															
SO Beta	0.5	4															
Cost of equity	5,729	6															
Cost of debt	3.429	6															
WACC	3.90%	6															
D/E	1.5	3															
													Co	nveraina towar	ds Steady State		
			202	0	2024	2022	2022	2024	2025	2026	2027	2029	2020	2020	2024	2022	2022

	2020	2021	2022	2023	2024	2025	2020	2021	2020	2025	2030	2031	2032	2033
core g	-10.97%	-29.19%	50.58%	-10.23%	7.00%	2.68%	3.01%	2.91%	3.04%	3.11%	3.22%	2.66%	3.38%	3.47%
core RONIC	1 1	-31.47%	34.64%	206.17%	4.12%	4.71%	4.15%	3.92%	4.32%	4.24%	4.43%	3.66%	4.52%	4.78%
ROE					7.26%	7.15%	6.94%	6.87%	6.94%	7.03%	7.11%	7.15%	7.27%	7.39%
Core ROIC	7.47%	5.66%	8.41%	7.01%	7.31%	7.28%	7.27%	7.28%	7.27%	7.27%	7.29%	7.25%	7.28%	7.31%



Disclosures and Disclaimers

Report Recommendations

Buy	Expected total return (including expected capital gains and expected dividend yield) of more than 10% over a 12-month period.
Hold	Expected total return (including expected capital gains and expected dividend yield) between 0% and 10% over a 12-month period.
Sell	Expected negative total return (including expected capital gains and expected dividend yield) over a 12-month period.

This report was prepared by Ana Benjamim and Henrique Zhao, a Master in Finance student of Nova School of Business and Economics ("Nova SBE"), within the context of the Field Lab – Equity Research.

This report is issued and published exclusively for academic purposes, namely for academic evaluation and master graduation purposes, within the context of said Field Lab – Equity Research. It is not to be construed as an offer or a solicitation of an offer to buy or sell any security or financial instrument.

This report was supervised by a Nova SBE faculty member, acting merely in an academic capacity, who revised the valuation methodology and the financial model.

Given the exclusive academic purpose of the reports produced by Nova SBE students, it is Nova SBE understanding that Nova SBE, the author, the present report and its publishing, are excluded from the persons and activities requiring previous registration from local regulatory authorities. As such, Nova SBE, its faculty and the author of this report have not sought or obtained registration with or certification as financial analyst by any local regulator, in any jurisdiction. In Portugal, neither the author of this report nor his/her academic supervisor is registered with or qualified under COMISSÃO DO MERCADO DE VALORES MOBILIÁRIOS ("CMVM", the Portuguese Securities Market Authority) as a financial analyst. No approval for publication or distribution of this report was required and/or obtained from any local authority, given the exclusive academic nature of the report.

The additional disclaimers also apply:

USA: Pursuant to Section 202 (a) (11) of the Investment Advisers Act of 1940, neither Nova SBE nor the author of this report are to be qualified as an investment adviser and, thus, registration with the Securities and Exchange Commission ("SEC", United States of America's securities market authority) is not necessary. Neither the author nor Nova SBE receive any compensation of any kind for the preparation of the reports.



Germany: Pursuant to §34c of the WpHG (*Wertpapierhandelsgesetz*, i.e., the German Securities Trading Act), this entity is not required to register with or otherwise notify the *Bundesanstalt für Finanzdienstleistungsaufsicht* ("BaFin", the German Federal Financial Supervisory Authority). It should be noted that Nova SBE is a fully-owned state university and there is no relation between the student's equity reports and any fund raising programme.

UK: Pursuant to section 22 of the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000 (the "FSMA"), for an activity to be a regulated activity, it must be carried on "by way of business". All regulated activities are subject to prior authorization by the Financial Conduct Authority ("FCA"). However, this report serves an exclusively academic purpose and, as such, was not prepared by way of business. The author - a Master's student - is the **sole and exclusive responsible** for the information, estimates and forecasts contained herein, and for the opinions expressed, which exclusively reflect his/her own judgment at the date of the report. Nova SBE and its faculty have no single and formal position in relation to the most appropriate valuation method, estimates or projections used in the report and may not be held liable by the author's choice of the latter.

The information contained in this report was compiled by students from public sources believed to be reliable, but Nova SBE, its faculty, or the students make no representation that it is accurate or complete, and accept no liability whatsoever for any direct or indirect loss resulting from the use of this report or of its content.

Students are free to choose the target companies of the reports. Therefore, Nova SBE may start covering and/or suspend the coverage of any listed company, at any time, without prior notice. The students or Nova SBE are not responsible for updating this report, and the opinions and recommendations expressed herein may change without further notice.

The target company or security of this report may be simultaneously covered by more than one student. Because each student is free to choose the valuation method, and make his/her own assumptions and estimates, the resulting projections, price target and recommendations may differ widely, even when referring to the same security. Moreover, changing market conditions and/or changing subjective opinions may lead to significantly different valuation results. Other students' opinions, estimates and recommendations, as well as the advisor and other faculty members' opinions may be inconsistent with the views expressed in this report. Any recipient of this report should understand that statements regarding future prospects and performance are, by nature, subjective, and may be fallible.

This report does not necessarily mention and/or analyze all possible risks arising from the investment in the target company and/or security, namely the possible exchange rate risk resulting from the security being denominated in a currency either than the investor's currency, among many other risks.

The purpose of publishing this report is merely academic and it is not intended for distribution among private investors. The information and opinions expressed in this report are not intended to be available to any person other than Portuguese natural or legal persons or persons domiciled in Portugal. While preparing this report, students did not have in consideration the specific investment objectives, financial situation or particular needs of any specific person. Investors should seek financial advice regarding the appropriateness of investing in any



security, namely in the security covered by this report.

The author hereby certifies that the views expressed in this report accurately reflect his/her personal opinion about the target company and its securities. He/ She has not received or been promised any direct or indirect compensation for expressing the opinions or recommendation included in this report.

The content of each report has been shown or made public to restricted parties prior to its publication in Nova SBE's website or in Bloomberg Professional, for academic purposes such as its distribution among faculty members for students' academic evaluation.

Nova SBE is a state-owned university, mainly financed by state subsidies, students tuition fees and companies, through donations, or indirectly by hiring educational programs, among other possibilities. Thus, Nova SBE may have received compensation from the target company during the last 12 months, related to its fundraising programs, or indirectly through the sale of educational, consulting or research services. Nevertheless, no compensation eventually received by Nova SBE is in any way related to or dependent on the opinions expressed in this report. The Nova School of Business and Economics does not deal for or otherwise offer any investment or intermediation services to market counterparties, private or intermediate customers.

This report may not be reproduced, distributed or published, in whole or in part, without the explicit previous consent of its author, unless when used by Nova SBE for academic purposes only. At any time, Nova SBE may decide to suspend this report reproduction or distribution without further notice. Neither this document nor any copy of it may be taken, transmitted or distributed, directly or indirectly, in any country either than Portugal or to any resident outside this country. The dissemination of this document other than in Portugal or to Portuguese citizens is therefore prohibited and unlawful.